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Vivvvsjgalkfg

 Vision
 
To strive for quality service delivery by all organs of state

  Mission
 

To strengthen constitutional democracy by conducting investigations into alleged improper conduct 
by organs  of state, reporting and recommending remedial action, and enhancing awareness and 
accessibility to all.



Vivvvsjgalkfg  Core Values
Impartiality
We ensure impartiality in our interactions with our stakeholders. We perform our duties without 
fear or favour, mindful of the independence of our office.

Courtesy
We display courtesy to all and treat people with dignity and respect.

Empathy
We are sensitive towards and understand our stakeholders’ needs and feelings.

Integrity
We strive to maintain high standards of trustworthiness, mindful of our obligation of confidentiality.

Accountability
We always give an account of our actions and decisions.

Service Oriented
We strive to execute our responsibilities timeously, fairly and consistently, with due regard given to 
the facts of each matter before us.
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 Speaker of the House
The Hon Ms Baleka Mbete 
 
Speaker of the House of Assembly of South Africa
Parliament Building
Parliament Street
CAPE TOWN

Dear Madam Speaker

I have the honour to present the fifth Annual Report in my term of office to Parliament. This report covers the period 1 
April 2006 to 31 March 2007 and includes the Audit Committee Report. 

The report is submitted in terms of section 181(5) of the Constitution, 1996, which states, “These institutions are account-
able to the National Assembly, and must report on their activities and the performance of their functions to the Assembly 
at least once a year.”

We have this year made significant strides in being more accessible to the diverse communities we serve, including ap-
pointing a CEO that started in the new financial year. We have also cooperated with Parliament’s review of Chapter 9 
institutions which we believe will contribute to our strengthening so that we better achieve our constitutional mandate.
On behalf of all my staff, I would like to express our sincere appreciation to the many representatives of government 
departments and agencies who have so willingly assisted us in our endeavours to fulfil our Constitutional mandate. 

....................................
ADV ML MUSHWANA
PUBLIC PROTECTOR OF THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA
August 2007
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Vivvvsjgalkfg

 Foreword
 
The year 2006/07 is a year in which we further consolidated the structures, systems and strategies we have put together 
over the years to improve responsiveness to our people’s needs.  

The institution is being increasingly strengthened through the recruitment and appointment of managers to key posts, 
including that of CEO that was approved in the financial year under review. The CEO assumed duty on 1 April 2007. The 
appointment of a CEO will relieve the administrative burden on the Public Protector and his deputy enabling us to focus 
more on the strategic matters of the institution and reaching out to the majority of our people. 

We are proud that we are improving the manner in which we deliver services to the majority of our people. Complaints 
from people in communities as well as from elected representatives continue to stream into our office. We have now 
reduced the turnaround time of the finalisation of cases from two years to one year. This means that there are now very 
few cases that take longer than a year to finalise. We will continue streamlining our processes, including assessing the 
salary structures of our investigators in order to attract and retain talent within the organisation. 

We have also focussed our energies on the outreach programme and we will see the full benefit of our efforts in the 
2007/08 financial year. Our outreach activities will receive further impetus with the adoption of a strategy and the appoint-
ment of a dedicated executive to drive this programme. We will also launch mobile clinics in the next financial year to 
further improve our accessibility to people. The aim is to reach out to many of our people that are still not getting the level 
of services they deserve from the public service.

We continued to work very well with elected representatives who have supported us in carrying out our work. They see 
our office, correctly, as one that addresses their concerns about our public service. This is further confidence in our 
ability to live up to our constitutional injunction to investigate matters of maladministration and impropriety in the public 
service. 

The parliamentary review of Chapter 9 institutions has contributed to the debate on the strengthening of our democracy 
as well as highlighting the work we do. We look forward to the committee report. 

During the year under review the Office of the Public Protector went through a rigorous landscaping survey conducted 
by the European Union (EU). The study was followed by a number of valuable recommendations aimed at improving 
the functioning of the OPP in its task of fulfilling its constitutional mandate. We are in the process of implementing these 
recommendations with the help of funding from the EU. 
 
We have continued to be proactive in our dealings with complaints, initiating a number of investigations that look at sys-
temic problems that lead to a high number of complaints. We are in the process of finalising the investigation into delays 
of payouts by the Government Employees Pension Fund. We are also investigating the high number of complaints from 
prisoners regarding their appeals.

We will continue ensuring that our services are geared towards addressing the needs of our people. 

I wish to thank Parliament, as well as the chairs of various committees of both houses of Parliament for their continued 
support and assistance in carrying out our work. Special thanks to my management team and staff in the office who have 
worked hard in the past year to ensure that we continue to fulfil our constitutional mandate. It is through their concerted 
efforts that for five consecutive years the office of the Public Protector received an unqualified audit report with no matters 
of emphasis. 

....................................
ADV ML MUSHWANA
PUBLIC PROTECTOR OF THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA
August 2007
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AORC  African Ombudsman Resource Centre 

CSAP Civil Society Advocacy Programme 

DPW Department of Public Works 

EWP Employee Wellness Programme 

HRD Human Resource Development 

HRMIS Human Resource Management Information System 

ICT Information Communication Technology 

JYP Justice Yellow Pages 

OPP Office of the Public Protector 

PPDMS Personnel Performance Development Management System 

PSETA Public Service Sector Education and Training Authority 

SDI Service Delivery Indicator 

UKZN  University of KwaZulu Natal 
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 2.1  Appointment mechanism and powers
The Public Protector is appointed by the President on the recommendation of the National Assembly in terms of 
Chapter Nine of The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa (Act 108 of 1996). The Public Protector is required 
to be a South African citizen who is suitably qualified and experienced and has exhibited a reputation for honesty and 
integrity. The Constitution also prescribes the powers and duties of the Public Protector. The Public Protector Act, 
1994 (Act 23 of 1994) regulates further powers and duties as well as their execution.

Section 181 of the Constitution ensures that the Public Protector shall be subject only to the Constitution and the 
law. He/she must be impartial and must exercise his/her powers and perform his/her functions without ‘fear, favour 
or prejudice’. No person or organ of state may interfere with the functioning of the Office of the Public Protector 
(OPP).

The Public Protector has the power to investigate any conduct in state affairs, or in the public administration in any 
sphere of government that is alleged or suspected to be improper or to result in any impropriety or prejudice. Fol-
lowing such an investigation the Public Protector has to report on the conduct concerned and he/she can take ap-
propriate remedial action. Additional powers and functions are provided for by the Public Protector Act, 1994. The 
Public Protector may not investigate court decisions. He/she must be accessible to all persons and communities. 
Other organs of state must assist and protect the institution to ensure its independence, impartiality, dignity and ef-
fectiveness.

The Public Protector is neither an advocate for the complainant nor for the public authority concerned. He/she ascer-
tains the facts of the case and reaches an impartial and independent conclusion on the merits of the complaint.

  2.2 A brief history of the office

Most democracies have a national institution similar to that of the Public Protector - although called by different 
names, amongst others, Ombudsman, Mediator, Commissioner - which is empowered by legislation to assist in 
establishing and maintaining efficient and proper public administration.

The idea of the office of Ombudsman originated in Sweden, but did not spread to other countries until the 20th cen-
tury, when it was adopted in other Scandinavian countries. In the early 1960’s various Commonwealth and other, 
mainly European countries, established such an office. By mid 1983, there were approximately 21 countries with 
Ombudsman offices at provincial, state or regional levels. In particular, the transition of many countries to democracy 
and democratic structures of governance over the past two decades has led to the establishment of many more Om-
budsman offices during this recent period. Accordingly, by 1998, the number of Ombudsman offices had more than 
quadrupled to encompass offices both in states with well established democratic systems and in countries which had 
younger democracies, such as countries in Latin America, Central and Eastern Europe, as well as in parts of Africa 
and the Asia Pacific countries.

With the founding of a proper and modern democracy in South Africa, it was decided that such an institution should 
also form part of the establishment of institutions that will protect fundamental human rights and that will prevent the 
state from treating the public in an unfair and high- handed manner.

During the multi-party negotiations that preceded the 1994 elections, it was agreed that South Africa should have 
a Public Protector. The Public Protector was established by means of provisions of the interim Constitution of 1993 
and confirmed as an institution that strengthens constitutional democracy by the final Constitution, 1996. The office 
of the Public Protector came into being on 1 October 1995.

2. BACKGROUND TO THE OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTOR
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 2.3  Jurisdiction 

The Public Protector has jurisdiction over all organs of state, any institution in which the state is the majority or controlling 
shareholder and any public entity as defined in section 1 of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999.

 2.4  Particular powers and duties
During an investigation, the Public Protector may, if he/she considers it appropriate or necessary:

• •  Direct any person to appear before him/her to give evidence or to produce any document in his/her possession or  

under his/her control which, in the opinion of the Public Protector, has a bearing on the matter being investigated, and       

may examine such person for that purpose;

• •  Request any person at any level of government, or performing a public function, or otherwise subject to his/her juris-

diction, to assist him/her in the performance of his/her duties with regard to a specific investigation; and

• •  Make recommendations and take appropriate remedial action.

 2.5  Reporting

The Public Protector is accountable to the National Assembly and must report on his/her activities and the performance 

of his/her functions to the Assembly at least once a year. The Public Protector must, however, at any time submit a 

report to the National Assembly on the findings of a particular investigation if:

• He/she deems it necessary;

• He/she deems it in the public interest;

• It requires the urgent attention of, or an intervention by, the National Assembly; or

• He/she is requested to do so by the Chairperson of the National Council of Provinces.

Public Protector South Africa Annual Report: 1 April 2006 - 31 March 2007

8



Born in 1948 at Bordeaux in Limpopo Province, Mabedle Lawrence 
Mushwana studied through the University of South Africa and obtained 
a B Juris degree. He also attended the University of Zululand where he 
obtained two legal diplomas and later a LLB degree.

He started his legal career in 1972 as an interpreter of the Magistrate’s 
Court in Mhala, Bushbuckridge and became a public prosecutor there 
three years later. By 1977 he had risen to the position of Magistrate 
and served in Malamulele, Ritavi, Giyani and Mhala districts. At the 
time of his resignation in 1986 due to political activities he was Princi-
pal Magistrate.

Twice detained under the old Apartheid State of Emergency Regula-
tions, he was later admitted as an attorney of the High Court of South 
Africa and went on to establish his own firm in 1992. He was admitted 
as an advocate of the Supreme Court of South Africa.

Mr Mushwana has had a distinguished career in government and has 
led a number of delegations on international Parliamentary tours. He 
has also served on several Parliamentary committees. Amongst oth-
ers, he co-chaired the Joint Parliamentary budget committee and the 
Code of Conduct and Ethics Committee. He has served as Chairper-
son of Committees and also on the Audit Commission and the Judicial Services Commission. He participated in the 
drawing up of the South African Constitution and is well known for his role as Deputy Chairperson of the National 
Council of Provinces. He resigned from his position to take up office as the second Public Protector of South Africa 
on 15 October 2002.

He is actively involved in community service and is renowned for his language proficiency. As a law student, he 
obtained a distinction in Practical Afrikaans. He is also fluent in English, Xitsonga, Zulu, Northern Sotho, Swazi and 
Xhosa. In addition, he is conversant in Southern Sotho, Venda and Setswana.

3.  PROFILE OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTOR, Adv Mabedle Lawrence Mushwana
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The programmes for the year’s strategic plan were revised and structured in accordance with the operations of the OPP. 
The programmes are:

 4.1 Programme 1: Investigation And Reporting
4.1.1 OBJECTIVE OF THE PROGRAMME 
To conduct national, special and provincial investigations that are effective, efficient, informed, timeous and of high 
quality.

4.1.2 OUTCOME OF THE PROGRAMME
Improved service delivery to stakeholders.

4.1.3. STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE PROGRAMME
a) To conduct investigations with adherence to Service Delivery Indicators (SDIs).
b) To identify and conduct systemic investigations.
c) To conduct own-initiative investigations.
d) To develop investigative techniques, processes and training.
e) To reduce the turnaround time to a maximum of two years to finalise all cases.
f) To conduct file inspections.
g) To ensure effective and relevant reporting in all finalised investigations.
h) To monitor and report on remedial action recommended to organs of state.
i) To improve on think-tank committee procedures and processes.
j) To improve on strategic performance reporting.
k) To improve the effective and efficient coordination of provincial offices. 

4.1.4        PERFORMANCE ON STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets 
for the Year 

Approved project 
plans for 
appropriate 
investigations / 
investigation plans 
for all other cases 

Achieved 
 

 Project plans were defined 
and approved for 80% of all 
appropriate cases

 

1.1 To conduct 
investigations with 
adherence to SDIs

 

Adherence to 
approved SDIs 
aligned with 
individual 
performance in 
accordance with 
the defined 
workplans 

Achieved 

 
 On average there is an 80% 
adherence to SDI’s

 
 

1.2 To identify and 
conduct systemic 
investigations

 

Systemic 
investigation 
reports

 

Achieved  
 
A total of 8 systemic 
investigations were 
conducted during the 
financial year  

1.3 To conduct own -
initiative 
investigations

 

Own-initiative 
investigation 
reports

 

Achieved  
 
A total of 22 own initiative 
investigations were 
conducted and 9 were 
finalised during the financial 
year 

1.4 To develop 
investigative 
techniques, 
processes and 
training

 

Process manual 
reflecting 
investigation 
techniques, 
remedial action 
guidelines, 
checklists, and 
report writing and 
procedures

 

Partially achieved 
 
A draft process manual has 
been drafted and a task team 
has been appointed to review 
the manual in line with best 
international practice. Civil 
Society Advocacy 
Programme (CSAP) was 
requested to assist with the 
appointment of a service 
provider to refine the manual 
but this was not completed on 
time and was deferred to 
2007/08 
 

1.5 To reduce the 
 turnaround time to a 

maximum of 2 years 
for finalising all 
cases

 

Regular statistical 
report on relevant 
cases

 

Achieved 
 
95% of cases finalised during 
the financial year were 
finalised within the required 
target period of two 
years.(Reflected in pie chart 
hereunder) 

1. Investigations 
and Reporting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Investigations

 

and Reporting

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.6
 
To Conduct File 
Inspections

 

File inspection 
report

 

Achieved 
 
File Inspection conducted in 
all offices during December 
2006 

4. PERFOMANCE ON STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES FOR THE 2006/07 FINANCIAL YEAR
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1.7
 
To ensure effective 
and relevant 
reporting on all 
finalised 
investigations

 

Quality report for 
every finalised 
case.

 

Achieved 
 

 Reports (formal or closing) 
were done for all finalised 
cases

 

1.8 To monitor and report 
on remedial actions 
recommended to 
organs of state

 

Remedial action 
and monitoring 
Report

 
 

Achieved 
 80% of all cases where 
recommendations were made 
received positive feedback on 
implementation with most of 
the remaining cases to be 
followed up in due course. 
There are two cases that the 
OPP is following up on 
recommendations made 

 

1.9. To improve on Think 
Tank Committee 
Procedures and 
processes

 

Documented Think 
Tank Operational 
Process Manual

 

Achieved 
 Think Tank Operational 
Process Manual drafted and 
circulated for input and 
comment by Managers  

1.10. To improve on 
Strategic 
Performance 
Reporting 

Strategy 
Performance and 
Statistical Reports 
 

Achieved 
 
Meetings held quarterly to 
report on performance on the 
Strategic objectives 

Appoint Executive 
Manager: 
Provincial 
Coordination

 

Achieved 
 
Executive Manager: 
Provincial Coordination has 
been appointed  

1. Investigations

 

and 

 

Reporting

 
 
 

1.11

 

To improve the 
effective and 
efficient coordination 
of Provincial Offices

 
Provincial 
Coordination 
Process Manual

 

Achieved 
 
Provincial Coordination 
Process Manual has been 
drafted 

 



 4.2 Programme 2: Communication Services
4.2.1  OBJECTIVE OF THE PROGRAMME
To improve internal and external communication, to inculcate a common vision and improved profile for the OPP.

4.2.2  OUTCOME OF THE PROGRAMME
a) Improved Stakeholder perception, co-operation and accessibility of OPP services.
b) Smooth, timeous flow of accurate information to all OPP staff.

4.2.3  STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE PROGRAMME
Sub-Programme: Outreach Programme
a) Increase accessibility to OPP services
b) Increase Public Awareness
c) Enhance collaboration with stakeholders

Sub-Programme: Marketing and Communications
a) Improve communication and routing of information to stakeholders
b) Effective Communication to internal staff
c) Improve Media Relations
d) Develop the branding of the OPP
e) Inculcate Protocol knowledge within the OPP

4.2.4 PERFORMANCE ON STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
Sub-programme: Outreach
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Meetings held quarterly to 
report on performance on the 
Strategic objectives 

Appoint Executive 
Manager: 
Provincial 
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Executive Manager: 
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and 
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1.11

 

To improve the 
effective and 
efficient coordination 
of Provincial Offices

 
Provincial 
Coordination 
Process Manual

 

Achieved 
 
Provincial Coordination 
Process Manual has been 
drafted 

 

Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets 
for the Year 

Outreach Strategy 
developed 

Achieved 
 
Outreach strategy for OPP 
has been developed and 
adopted and is being 
implemented. Furthermore 
CSAP1 has appointed an 
Outreach Co-ordinator and 5 
facilitators for a period of two 
years to assist OPP to 
implement the strategy 

Clinics conducted Achieved 
 
During the financial year, 73 
clinics have been conducted 
and 1852 complaints 
received 

1.1 Increase accessibility 
to OPP services  

 
 
 

Additional regional 
office established 

Not Achieved 
 
The areas where the offices 
will be opened have been 
identified and the opening 
has been deferred to 2007/08 
financial year 

1.2 Increase public 
awareness  

Information 
sessions with 
stakeholders 

Achieved 
 
Target exceeded. 167 
information sessions were 
conducted 

1. Outreach 
Programme 

1.3 Enhance 
collaboration with 
stakeholders  

Chapter 9 
Collaboration Plan 

Partially achieved 
 
Collaboration Plan not 
achieved but areas of 
collaboration have been 
identified and there is 
ongoing collaboration with 
Chapter 9’s through joint 
implementation of CSAP 
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to OPP services  

 
 
 

Additional regional 
office established 

Not Achieved 
 
The areas where the offices 
will be opened have been 
identified and the opening 
has been deferred to 2007/08 
financial year 

1.2 Increase public 
awareness  

Information 
sessions with 
stakeholders 

Achieved 
 
Target exceeded. 167 
information sessions were 
conducted 

1. Outreach 
Programme 

1.3 Enhance 
collaboration with 
stakeholders  

Chapter 9 
Collaboration Plan 

Partially achieved 
 
Collaboration Plan not 
achieved but areas of 
collaboration have been 
identified and there is 
ongoing collaboration with 
Chapter 9’s through joint 
implementation of CSAP 

 

                                                

Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets 
for the Year 

Outreach Strategy 
developed 

Achieved 
 
Outreach strategy for OPP 
has been developed and 
adopted and is being 
implemented. Furthermore 
CSAP1 has appointed an 
Outreach Co-ordinator and 5 
facilitators for a period of two 
years to assist OPP to 
implement the strategy 

Clinics conducted Achieved 
 
During the financial year, 73 
clinics have been conducted 
and 1852 complaints 
received 

1.1 Increase accessibility 
to OPP services  

 
 
 

Additional regional 
office established 

Not Achieved 
 
The areas where the offices 
will be opened have been 
identified and the opening 
has been deferred to 2007/08 
financial year 

1.2 Increase public 
awareness  

Information 
sessions with 
stakeholders 

Achieved 
 
Target exceeded. 167 
information sessions were 
conducted 

1. Outreach 
Programme 

1.3 Enhance 
collaboration with 
stakeholders  

Chapter 9 
Collaboration Plan 

Partially achieved 
 
Collaboration Plan not 
achieved but areas of 
collaboration have been 
identified and there is 
ongoing collaboration with 
Chapter 9’s through joint 
implementation of CSAP 

 

                                                

Programme
 

Strategic Objective
 

Output
 Achievements of Targets 

for the Year 
2.1 Improve 

communication and 
routing of information 
to stakeholders  

External 
communication 
strategy 
development and 
implementation 

Achieved 
 
A Communication Strategy 
has been developed parts 
of which are being 
implemented. 

2.2 Effective 
communication to 
internal staff  

Internal 
communication 
strategy 
development 

Partially Achieved 
 
Periodic communication 
made to staff via email and 
Internal communication.  

2.3 Improve media 
relations  

Media strategy 
development 

Achieved 
 
Communication with media 
was strengthened including 
press conferences, media 
releases and media 
briefing. 

2.4 To enhance the 
image of the OPP  

Identifiable 
branding of the 
OPP 

Partially Achieved 
 
OPP corporate branding 
manual has been drafted 
and is being discussed 

2. Communication 
and Marketing 

2.5 Inculcate protocol 
knowledge within the 
OPP  

Staff trained on 
protocol 

Achieved 
 
Appropriate staff had been 
trained in protocol.  

 



 4.3. Programme 3: Corporate Support Services 
4.3.1 OBJECTIVE OF THE PROGRAMME 
To achieve and sustain an efficient and effective corporate support service that is compliant with legislation.

4.3.2. OUTCOME OF THE PROGRAMME
Improved service delivery.

4.3.3 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE PROGRAMME
Sub-Programme: Human Resources Management and Development

a) Attraction, maintenance and retention of high-quality staff.
b) To improve and sustain HR performance management system.
c) Training and development of staff according to needs.
d) Facilitating the design and utilisation of an Employee Wellness Programme EWP and achieving 
 transformation, equity and diversity.

Sub-Programme: Finance and Supply Chain Management

a) To develop a costing model for investigations
b) Improve OPP financial management and reporting
c) Ensure compliance of OPP with financial prescripts
d) Develop and implement cost-effective procurement processes

Sub-Programme: Administration Support

a) To enable the optimum application and utilisation of resources
b) To promote the effective and efficient functioning of the registry
c) To establish and maintain suitable office accommodation

Sub-Programme: Security Management

a) To establish and implement processes for the protection of OPP information and assets
b) To provide secure premises and a safe working environment for staff.

4.3.4 PERFORMANCE ON STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Sub-programme Human Resources Management

 Programme
 

Strategic Objective
 

Output
 Achievements of Targets for 

the Year 
Human Capital 
Sourcing Strategy 
and implementation 
 

Partially achieved 
 
Draft retention strategy 
developed, further achievement 
of this objective has been 
carried over to 2007/08 
financial year 

1.1 Attraction, 
maintenance 
and retention of 
high-quality 
staff  

 

Remuneration 
strategy / policy 
and implementation 
 

Achieved 
 
Implementation of remuneration 
strategy is ongoing and will be 
finalised during 2007/08 

1.2 To improve and 
sustain the HR 
performance 
management 
system  

Outcome-based 
Performance 
Management 
System 

Partially Achieved 
  
Personnel Performance 
Management Development 
System (PPMDS) Moderating 
Committee has made 
recommendations on issues to 
be reviewed and OPP in 
process of appointing service 
provider to review Performance 
Management system 

1.3 Training and 
development of 
staff according 
to needs  

Human Resources 
Development 
(HRD) Strategy 
developed and 
implemented 

Achieved 
 
Workplace Skills Plan 
submitted to Public Service 
Sector Education and Training 
Authority (PSETA). Human 
Resource Development (HRD) 
Strategy will be developed 
during 2007/08 

1. Corporate 
Services (Human 
Resources 
Management) 

1.4 Facilitate the 
design and 
utilisation of an 
EWP and 
achieve 

transformation, 
equity and 
diversity  

Accessible, 
functional and 
utilised EWP 

Achieved 
 
Full EWP programme 
developed. 
Service provider appointed.  
 

 

1. Corporate 
Services (Human 
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Programme
 

Strategic Objective
 

Output
 Achievements of Targets for 

the Year 
Human Capital 
Sourcing Strategy 
and implementation 
 

Partially achieved 
 
Draft retention strategy 
developed, further achievement 
of this objective has been 
carried over to 2007/08 
financial year 

1.1 Attraction, 
maintenance 
and retention of 
high-quality 
staff  

 

Remuneration 
strategy / policy 
and implementation 
 

Achieved 
 
Implementation of remuneration 
strategy is ongoing and will be 
finalised during 2007/08 

1.2 To improve and 
sustain the HR 
performance 
management 
system  

Outcome-based 
Performance 
Management 
System 

Partially Achieved 
  
Personnel Performance 
Management Development 
System (PPMDS) Moderating 
Committee has made 
recommendations on issues to 
be reviewed and OPP in 
process of appointing service 
provider to review Performance 
Management system 

1.3 Training and 
development of 
staff according 
to needs  

Human Resources 
Development 
(HRD) Strategy 
developed and 
implemented 

Achieved 
 
Workplace Skills Plan 
submitted to Public Service 
Sector Education and Training 
Authority (PSETA). Human 
Resource Development (HRD) 
Strategy will be developed 
during 2007/08 

1. Corporate 
Services (Human 
Resources 
Management) 

1.4 Facilitate the 
design and 
utilisation of an 
EWP and 
achieve 

transformation, 
equity and 
diversity  

Accessible, 
functional and 
utilised EWP 

Achieved 
 
Full EWP programme 
developed. 
Service provider appointed.  
 

 

1. Corporate 
Services (Human 
Resources 
Management)

Programme
 

Strategic Objective
 

Output
 Achievements of Targets for 

the Year 
Human Capital 
Sourcing Strategy 
and implementation 
 

Partially achieved 
 
Draft retention strategy 
developed, further achievement 
of this objective has been 
carried over to 2007/08 
financial year 

1.1 Attraction, 
maintenance 
and retention of 
high-quality 
staff  

 

Remuneration 
strategy / policy 
and implementation 
 

Achieved 
 
Implementation of remuneration 
strategy is ongoing and will be 
finalised during 2007/08 

1.2 To improve and 
sustain the HR 
performance 
management 
system  

Outcome-based 
Performance 
Management 
System 

Partially Achieved 
  
Personnel Performance 
Management Development 
System (PPMDS) Moderating 
Committee has made 
recommendations on issues to 
be reviewed and OPP in 
process of appointing service 
provider to review Performance 
Management system 

1.3 Training and 
development of 
staff according 
to needs  

Human Resources 
Development 
(HRD) Strategy 
developed and 
implemented 

Achieved 
 
Workplace Skills Plan 
submitted to Public Service 
Sector Education and Training 
Authority (PSETA). Human 
Resource Development (HRD) 
Strategy will be developed 
during 2007/08 

1. Corporate 
Services (Human 
Resources 
Management) 

1.4 Facilitate the 
design and 
utilisation of an 
EWP and 
achieve 

transformation, 
equity and 
diversity  

Accessible, 
functional and 
utilised EWP 

Achieved 
 
Full EWP programme 
developed. 
Service provider appointed.  
 

 

1. Corporate 
Services (Human 
Resources 
Management)

Sub Programme: Finance and Supply Chain Management

Programme
 

Strategic Objective
 

Output
 Achievements of Targets for 

the Year 
2.1 To develop a 

costing model for 
investigations 

 

Costing model 
developed 

Partially Achieved 
 
Investigations Unit has defined 
levels of complexity for cases 
and identified key variables to 
be included in costing model 
 

Financial 
management 
policies developed 
and implemented 

Achieved 
 
All relevant Financial 
management policies 
developed and implemented 

2.2 Improve financial 
management and 
reporting 

Divisional budgets Achieved 
 
A divisional budgeting model 
has been developed and 
Budget Guidelines document 
prepared.  
OPP Accounting system is able 
to produce budget-monitoring 
reports per Business Unit. 

2.3 Ensure compliance 
with financial 
prescripts

 
Unqualified audit 
reports 

Achieved 
 
All significant findings raised by 
Internal Audit and the Auditor-
General are being attended to 

2. Corporate 
Services 
(Finance and 
Supply Chain 
Management) 

2.4 Develop and 
implement cost-
effective procure-
ment  processes  

Cost-effective 
procurement 
processes 
implemented 

Achieved 
 
100% implementation of all 
procurement policies 

 



Sub Programme: Finance and Supply Chain Management

Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets for 
the Year 

Vehicle monitoring 
system 

Achieved  
All vehicles are fitted with Fleet 
Management device 

4.3.1 To enable the 
optimum 
application and 
utilisation 
resources  Telephone 

management 
system 

Achieved 
Telephone Management 
System that uses individual pin 
numbers has been 
implemented for all telephone 
lines 

3.2  To promote the 
effective and 
efficient 
functioning of 
the registry  

Records 
management 
system 

Achieved 
Records management manual 
was drafted and submitted to 
National Archivist for approval, 
and the response was received 
in February 2007 that the 
manual is approved. 
Implementation will commence 
in the new financial year 

Two additional 
regional offices 
established  

Not Achieved 
The areas where the offices will 
be opened has been identified 
and the opening has been 
deferred to 2007/08 financial 
year 

3. Corporate  
Services 
(Administration 
and Support) 

3.3 To establish and 
maintain 
suitable office 
accommodation  

 

Office relocated  
 
 

Partially  Achieved 
Western Cape relocated and 
Mafikeng could not be 
relocated as no suitable office 
accommodation could be found 
in Mafikeng. Current offices will 
be refurbished with the 
assistance of DPW during 
2007/08 

 

   
 

  Storerooms 
established 

Not achieved 
  
Department of Public Works 
(DPW) has been requested to 
find suitable premises for 
relocation of N Cape offices as 
it would not be cost effective to 
build strong rooms when the 
office will be relocating. 
 
Eastern Cape- not achieved 
 

4.1 To establish and 
implement 
processes for 
the protection 
of OPP 
inform ation 
and assets  

Strategy, policies 
and procedures  

Partially Achieved 
 
Security Management unit 
established and needs-analysis 
conducted for 7 out of 9 offices. 
Draft Security strategy 
developed and is currently 
under discussion. 
Security procedures have been 
developed and are being 
implemented 

4. Corporate  
Services (Security 
Management) 

4.2 To provide 
secure 
premises and a 
safe working 
environment 
for staff  

Strategy, policies 
and procedures  

Partially Achieved 
 
Security procedures have been 
developed and are being 
implemented 
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  Storerooms 
established 

Not achieved 
  
Department of Public Works 
(DPW) has been requested to 
find suitable premises for 
relocation of N Cape offices as 
it would not be cost effective to 
build strong rooms when the 
office will be relocating. 
 
Eastern Cape- not achieved 
 

4.1 To establish and 
implement 
processes for 
the protection 
of OPP 
inform ation 
and assets  

Strategy, policies 
and procedures  

Partially Achieved 
 
Security Management unit 
established and needs-analysis 
conducted for 7 out of 9 offices. 
Draft Security strategy 
developed and is currently 
under discussion. 
Security procedures have been 
developed and are being 
implemented 

4. Corporate  
Services (Security 
Management) 

4.2 To provide 
secure 
premises and a 
safe working 
environment 
for staff  

Strategy, policies 
and procedures  

Partially Achieved 
 
Security procedures have been 
developed and are being 
implemented 

 

4. Corporate 
Services (Security 
Management)

   
 

  Storerooms 
established 

Not achieved 
  
Department of Public Works 
(DPW) has been requested to 
find suitable premises for 
relocation of N Cape offices as 
it would not be cost effective to 
build strong rooms when the 
office will be relocating. 
 
Eastern Cape- not achieved 
 

4.1 To establish and 
implement 
processes for 
the protection 
of OPP 
inform ation 
and assets  

Strategy, policies 
and procedures  

Partially Achieved 
 
Security Management unit 
established and needs-analysis 
conducted for 7 out of 9 offices. 
Draft Security strategy 
developed and is currently 
under discussion. 
Security procedures have been 
developed and are being 
implemented 

4. Corporate  
Services (Security 
Management) 

4.2 To provide 
secure 
premises and a 
safe working 
environment 
for staff  

Strategy, policies 
and procedures  

Partially Achieved 
 
Security procedures have been 
developed and are being 
implemented 

 

4. Corporate 
Services (Security 
Management)

4.4. Programme 4: Knowledge Management And Information Technology

4.4.1  OBJECTIVE OF THE PROGRAMME 
To introduce and maintain efficient and effective knowledge man-
agement and information and communications technology within the 
OPP.

4.4.2. OUTCOME OF THE PROGRAMME
Efficient and effective service delivery to stakeholders.

4.4.3. STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE 
PROGRAMME
Sub-Programme: Knowledge Management
a) Create Knowledge Management Institution of the OPP
b) Establish and Migrate African Ombudsman Resource Centre (AORC)2

c) Implement an Exchange Programme

Sub-Programme: Information and Communication Technology
a) To implement and enhance integrated information management systems.
b) Building and enhancing ICT infrastructure that is reliable, secure and interoperable
c) Improving and implementing ICT best practices

4.4.4 PERFORMANCE ON STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES
Sub-Programme: Knowledge Management

Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets for 
the Year 

Knowledge and 
Research Manager 
appointed 

Not Achieved 
 
The post of Knowledge and 
Research Manager was 
reviewed but appointment 
deferred to 2007/08 
 

Knowledge audit 
conducted 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager  

Knowledge 
management 
strategy 
implemented 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager 

1.1 Create a 
knowledge 
management 
institution for the 
OPP  

Research 
conducted 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager 

1.2  Establish and 
migrate AORC 

AORC established Achieved 
 
AORC established at UKZN  
 

1. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 
(Knowledge 
Management) 

 
 
 
 

1.3 Implement 
exchange 
programme  

Information being 
shared with other 
ombudsman offices 

Partially Achieved 
 
Exchange programmes took 
place on ad hoc basis through 
exchanges from Ghana, 
Rwanda and Angola 
Ombudsman offices 
 

 

1. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 
(Knowledge 
Management)2.  CSAP –Civil Society Advocacy Programme is a partnership programme between the Office of the Public Protector, Commission on Gender Equity, the  

 South African Human Rights Commission and the European Union



Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets for 
the Year 

Knowledge and 
Research Manager 
appointed 

Not Achieved 
 
The post of Knowledge and 
Research Manager was 
reviewed but appointment 
deferred to 2007/08 
 

Knowledge audit 
conducted 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager  

Knowledge 
management 
strategy 
implemented 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager 

1.1 Create a 
knowledge 
management 
institution for the 
OPP  

Research 
conducted 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager 

1.2  Establish and 
migrate AORC 

AORC established Achieved 
 
AORC established at UKZN  
 

1. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 
(Knowledge 
Management) 

 
 
 
 

1.3 Implement 
exchange 
programme  

Information being 
shared with other 
ombudsman offices 

Partially Achieved 
 
Exchange programmes took 
place on ad hoc basis through 
exchanges from Ghana, 
Rwanda and Angola 
Ombudsman offices 
 

 

1. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 
(Knowledge 
Management)

Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets for 
the Year 

Knowledge and 
Research Manager 
appointed 

Not Achieved 
 
The post of Knowledge and 
Research Manager was 
reviewed but appointment 
deferred to 2007/08 
 

Knowledge audit 
conducted 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager  

Knowledge 
management 
strategy 
implemented 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager 

1.1 Create a 
knowledge 
management 
institution for the 
OPP  

Research 
conducted 

Not Achieved 
 
The achievement of this 
objective was dependent on the 
appointment of Knowledge and 
Research Manager 

1.2  Establish and 
migrate AORC 

AORC established Achieved 
 
AORC established at UKZN  
 

1. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 
(Knowledge 
Management) 

 
 
 
 

1.3 Implement 
exchange 
programme  

Information being 
shared with other 
ombudsman offices 

Partially Achieved 
 
Exchange programmes took 
place on ad hoc basis through 
exchanges from Ghana, 
Rwanda and Angola 
Ombudsman offices 
 

 

1. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 
(Knowledge 
Management)

Sub-Programme: Information and Communication Technology

Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets for 
the Year 

Case Management 
System 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Dictaphone 
Interpretation 
System 
 

Partially Achieved 
 
20% Implementation achieved 

e-Procurement 
System 
 

Not Achieved 
 
The amount quoted for the 
customisation and roll-
out/implementation of JYP was 
R3.5 million, and the amount 
quoted for annual maintenance 
and support was R2 million per 
annum 
 

Precedent System 
 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Enhanced Security 
System 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Library 
management 
system 

Achieved 
 
Assessment and needs 
analysis conducted by CSAP 
and recommendations made 

2. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 

 

2.1 To implement and 
enhance 
Integrated 
Information 
management 
Systems.  

Enhanced Human 
Resource 
Management 
Information System 
(HRMIS) 
 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

 

2. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology
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Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets for 
the Year 

Case Management 
System 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Dictaphone 
Interpretation 
System 
 

Partially Achieved 
 
20% Implementation achieved 

e-Procurement 
System 
 

Not Achieved 
 
The amount quoted for the 
customisation and roll-
out/implementation of JYP was 
R3.5 million, and the amount 
quoted for annual maintenance 
and support was R2 million per 
annum 
 

Precedent System 
 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Enhanced Security 
System 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Library 
management 
system 

Achieved 
 
Assessment and needs 
analysis conducted by CSAP 
and recommendations made 

2. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 

 

2.1 To implement and 
enhance 
Integrated 
Information 
management 
Systems.  

Enhanced Human 
Resource 
Management 
Information System 
(HRMIS) 
 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

 

2. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology
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Programme Strategic Objective Output Achievements of Targets for 
the Year 

Case Management 
System 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Dictaphone 
Interpretation 
System 
 

Partially Achieved 
 
20% Implementation achieved 

e-Procurement 
System 
 

Not Achieved 
 
The amount quoted for the 
customisation and roll-
out/implementation of JYP was 
R3.5 million, and the amount 
quoted for annual maintenance 
and support was R2 million per 
annum 
 

Precedent System 
 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Enhanced Security 
System 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

Library 
management 
system 

Achieved 
 
Assessment and needs 
analysis conducted by CSAP 
and recommendations made 

2. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology 

 

2.1 To implement and 
enhance 
Integrated 
Information 
management 
Systems.  

Enhanced Human 
Resource 
Management 
Information System 
(HRMIS) 
 

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this programme has been 
deferred to the next financial 
year 

 

2. Knowledge 
Management and 
Information 
Technology

 
 

Network Availability 
in regional offices 

Not achieved  
 
Regional offices not established 

Upgrade of Servers 
and Software, 
including Jutastats  

Not achieved 
 
Due to capacity constraints the 
achievement of objectives for 
this program has been deferred 
to the next financial year 

Remote 
Connection to the 
office Network 

Partially Achieved 
 
Policy on Remote Connection 
to the office Network developed 
and is currently under 
discussion 
 

2.2  Build and 
enhance ICT 
infrastructure 
that is reliable, 
secure and 
interoperable  

Intranet Partially Achieved 
 
Inputs made on various intranet 
options 

Policies, standards 
and procedures 

Achieved 
 
Policies, standards and 
procedures 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2.3 Improve and  
Implement 
Information 
Communication 
Technology (ICT) 
best practices Business 

Continuity Plan 
Partially achieved 
 
Disaster Recovery Plan drafted 
and adopted. 

 



        5.3  Cases Finalised

5. STATISTICAL OVERVIEW
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 5.1 Cases Received

5.2  Non-jurisdictional Cases Dealt With During 2006/07
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 5.4 Sample3  Of Gender Breakdown Of Complaints Received For The Office As A Whole Is As  Follows:

3. Sample is based on an analysis of 7110 of the complaints received during the financial year. 4783 complaints were received from males and 2327 from      
females 
4. Sample is based on analysis of 7 456 complaints received during the financial year
5. Based on an analysis of 11 206 of the complaints received during the financial year
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6.  SPECIFIC INVESTIGATIONS: NATIONAL, PROVINCIAL AND SPECIAL INVESTIGATIONS
 6.1 National Assembly

REPORT ON AN INVESTIGATION INTO ALLEGED FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE CONSTITUTION AND 
PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURES: CONSTITUTION TWELFTH AMENDMENT BILL

Report No 18 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector received a complaint concerning the alleged failure by the National Assembly to 
comply with both the Constitution, 1996, and its own prescribed procedures during the vote on the Constitution Twelfth 
Amendment Bill.

According to the complaint received, the vote took place in the National Assembly on 15 November 2005. It was alleged 
that, on this date, a number of irregularities occurred in that various provisions of the law, as well as certain required 
procedures, were not adhered to during the vote. The effect of these alleged failures was said to amount to a failure by 
the National Assembly to properly or lawfully pass the said Bill. One implication of this alleged failure was said to be that 
the President may have acted ultra vires in purporting to sign and assent to the legislation.

FINDINGS
The Public Protector found that there had been a technical difficulty in the casting of one member’s vote, causing the 
appearance of an error in the recording of votes cast. Further, that there had not been an explicit announcement that the 
Deputy Speaker’s deliberative vote had produced the required total of 267 votes in favour of the Bill. Moreover, despite 
appearances to the contrary, there had been no confusion in the Assembly in this regard. Furthermore, on the facts, 
there had been no substantial or material departure from the procedure for either casting or counting votes such as to 
warrant a finding that the Bill had not been properly and lawfully passed by the National Assembly.

The Public Protector found further that:

• there exists no reason to dispute the validity of the member’s vote; 
• there exists no reason to doubt that the Deputy Speaker validly cast her deliberative vote;
• the Constitutional requirement of a two-thirds majority vote was validly obtained in respect of the Constitution 

Twelfth Amendment Bill;
• however, there exists some room for doubt whether the relatively new ‘accepted practice’, which constitutes a 

departure from the provisions of the National Assembly Guide to Procedure (4 ed, January 2004) (‘the Guide’) 
and the Rules of the National Assembly, is either based on a considered, reasoned and authoritative decision, or 
advisable in all the circumstances.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector accordingly recommended that Parliament - 
• review the underlying rationale for the existing provision in the Guide;
• consider the respective merits and demerits of the existing provisions of the Guide, and the new ‘accepted prac-

tice’; and
• consult beyond the confines of its own resources and expertise in doing so.

 6.2 The Deputy President
REPORT ON AN INVESTIGATION INTO ALLEGATIONS OF UNETHICAL AND IMPROPER CONDUCT BY DEPUTY 
PRESIDENT P MLAMBO-NGCUKA RELATING TO HER UNOFFICIAL VISIT TO THE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES IN 
DECEMBER 2005

Report No 1 of 2006/07

Public Protector South Africa Annual Report: 1 April 2006 - 31 March 2007

22



Public Protector South Africa Annual Report: 1 April 2006 - 31 March 2007

The Office of the Public Protector investigated complaints lodged by two Members of Parliament against Deputy 
President P Mlambo-Ngcuka relating to her unofficial visit to the United Arab Emirates (UAE) in December 2005. 
It was mainly alleged that by using an aircraft of the South African Air Force (SAAF) to transport her, her husband, 
children and a friend to the UAE for a holiday at state expense, the Deputy President acted improperly and in breach 
of the Executive Ethics Code, published by virtue of the provisions of the Executive Members’ Ethics Act, 1998. It 
was furthermore averred that the hospitality afforded to the Deputy President and her entourage by the government 
of the UAE during their stay, should be regarded as a gift, which has to be declared in terms of the Executive Ethics 
Code.

The information obtained from and the evidence submitted during the investigation indicated that:
• The State has a constitutional obligation to protect the Deputy President on a full time basis during her/his tenure 

and after she/he leaves office. Former Presidents and Deputy Presidents are protected by the State, at substan-
tial cost, despite the fact that they are not performing any official duties;

• The protection of the Deputy President in office and the associated expenditure is in the national interest. It is 
based on provisions of the Constitution, national legislation and policies approved by the Cabinet; 

• The security measures instituted by the State to protect the Deputy President apply irrespective of whether she/he 
performs official duties or is on vacation;

• The policies and practices regulating the protection of the Deputy President are in line with international standards 
and practice;

• The South African Police Service (SAPS) is responsible for the protection of the Deputy President;

• The Deputy President is obliged to accept and conform to the protection measures implemented by the SAPS. 
She/he has no control over the decisions taken by the SAPS in this regard as it is based on government policy 
and relates directly to the position that she/he occupies and not only to her/him as a person;

• The protection measures of the Deputy President currently include that she/he is obliged to travel, locally and 
abroad, by an aircraft of the SAAF at the expense of the Department of Defence, irrespective of the purpose of 
the trip. She/he has no choice in the matter;

• The requirement that the Deputy President has to be transported by an aircraft of the SAAF forms part of a total 
security package. The costs of such air travels are budgeted for by the Department of Defence;

 • Only in circumstances where an aircraft of the SAAF is not available, would the Deputy President be allowed to 
travel by commercial airline. In such circumstances, strict security measures would apply (at cost to the State) to 
ensure that the Deputy President is properly protected; 

• The Deputy President is entitled to take leave whenever it is possible for her/him to do so and to travel to any 
destination of her/his choice when she/he is on vacation;

• The obligation of the State to protect the Deputy President, even when she/he is on leave, cannot infringe on her/
his right to go on vacation to the destination of her/his choice. It also cannot prevent her/him from being accom-
panied by her/his family and friends, should she/he wish to take them along. The fact that the mode of transport 
is prescribed to her/him by the SAPS, for security reasons and in terms of government policy, does not disqualify 
her/him from travelling wherever she/he wants to go on vacation; 

• The Deputy President went on vacation to the UAE with the approval of the President. The Presidency was 
informed of her visit and her Private Secretary had to accompany her, in terms of the practice and policy of the 
Presidency. Approval in this regard was granted by the Director General of the Presidency:



• In terms of the policies providing for the full time protection of the Deputy President, she had to be transported to 
the UAE by means of an aircraft of the SAAF at the expense of the Department of Defence;

• The expenditure incurred by the Presidency for the trip to the UAE was approved by the Chief Accounting Officer 
in terms of the relevant provisions of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999;

• The Deputy President was entitled, in terms of a policy approved by the Cabinet, to be accompanied on her vaca-
tion trip to the UAE by her family, friends and other passengers of her choice;

• The Deputy President was obliged, by virtue of her position, to consider the offer of the UAE Government to ac-
commodate her and her entourage during their stay in the UAE. Declining the offer could have insulted the Head 
of State of the UAE, which could have had an impact on diplomatic relations between the two countries;

• The hospitality that the Deputy President received from the UAE government did not constitute a ‘gift’ in terms of 
the Executive Ethics Code; and

• Under the circumstances it cannot be found that the Deputy President acted improperly or that she failed to act 
in good faith and in the best interests of good governance or in a manner that is inconsistent with her office, as 
alleged. She was entitled, as is anyone else, to take her family, a friend and the children of her Private Secretary 
with her to the UAE, and no-one therefore improperly benefited from the trip. 

FINDINGS
From the investigation it was found that:
The Deputy President did not act improperly or in breach of the Executive Ethics Code when she went on vacation to   
the United Arab Emirates in December 2005.

RECOMMENDATION
The Public Protector recommended that:
The Secretary of the Cabinet take urgent steps to ensure that the draft Presidential Handbook deals with the matters  
and issues investigated in clear and certain terms and that it is submitted to the Cabinet for consideration.

6.3 Ministers and Deputy Ministers
6.3.1  INVESTIGATION IN CONNECTION WITH COMPLIANCE BY MINISTERS AND 
DEPUTY MINISTERS WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE EXECUTIVE ETHICS CODE 
RELATING TO THE DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INTERESTS

Report No 2 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint by a Member of Parliament in connection with possible 
breaches of the Executive Ethics Code (the Code), issued in terms of the Executive Members’ Ethics Act, 1998.

The complaint related to a Report of the Auditor General, submitted to Parliament in February 2006, which stated that 
a number of Ministers and Deputy Ministers had failed to disclose their financial interests, as required by the Code and 
the Parliamentary Code of Conduct.

Following the said complaint, the Parliamentary Joint Committee on Ethics and Members’ Interests investigated the find-
ings of the Auditor General. It was found that the databases used during the investigation of the Auditor General did not 
always contain updated information and that there was a misunderstanding regarding the interests that Ministers and 
Deputy Ministers are obliged to disclose. The Committee’s finding was that the Code of Conduct had not been breached 
by the Ministers and Deputy Ministers concerned.
The investigation of the Public Protector focused on the alleged possible breaches of the Executive Ethics Code.
From the information obtained and the legislation and prescripts considered, it was concluded that the Code requires 
that Ministers and Deputy Ministers disclose financial interests. It does not provide for the disclosure of interests in non-
profit corporate entities or interests of a non-financial nature. 
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It was also observed that:

• Ministers, Deputy Ministers and their spouses who are directors of companies and/or members of close corpo-
rations are by law obliged to inform the respective companies and close corporations when they cease to be a 
director/member.

• It is the legal responsibility of companies and close corporations to inform the Registrar of Companies and Close 
Corporations of changes to its directorship or membership.

• Ministers and Deputy Ministers are under no legal obligation to ensure that the database of the Companies and 
Intellectual Property Registration Office is up to date, simply because of their current or former interests in corpo-
rate entities.

• Only financial interests need to be disclosed in terms of the Code. Interests in section 21 companies or corporate 
entities that bear no financial advantage for its members or directors do not warrant disclosure. 

FINDINGS
From the investigation it was found that the Ministers and Deputy Ministers referred to in the Report of the Auditor 
General did not breach the Executive Ethics Code.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that the Secretary of the Cabinet liaise with the Chairperson of the Committee 
to ensure that:

(a) the issues of compliance by members who are or were directors of companies and members of close corporations 
with the provisions of the relevant legislation;

(b) the definition of what is regarded as a “financial interest” for the purposes of disclosure in terms of the Code; 
and

(c) disclosures in terms of the Code of interests in corporate entities in the appropriate sections of the register, re-
ferred to in this report, are also canvassed during the proposed development of guidelines by and the planned 
conference of the Committee.

6.3.2  MINISTER OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

INVESTIGATION INTO AN ALLEGATION OF A BREACH OF THE EXECUTIVE ETHICS CODE BY THE MINIS-
TER OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT, DR Z SKWEYIYA 

Report No 3 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint by a Member of Parliament, lodged in terms of the Ex-
ecutive Members’ Ethics Act, 1998 against the Minister of Social Development, Dr Z Skweyiya (the Minister). It was 
alleged that the Minister acted in breach of the Executive Ethics Code by exposing himself to a situation involving the 
risk of a conflict between his official responsibilities and his private interests.

The complaint related to a loan that was granted to the Minister’s wife by Mr S Majali of Imvume Management in 
December 2003. Media reports, on which the complaint was based, suggested that the loan was granted in order 
to influence the Minister to ensure that a tender by the I T Lynx Consortium, in which Mr Majali has an interest, for a 
new social grant administration system for Department of Social Development, was awarded to it.



Evidence obtained during the investigation indicated that:
 
• The final adjudication of the tender in question took place 1 year and 7 months before the loan was granted to Mrs 

Skweyiya. It could therefore not have constituted the risk of a conflict of interests as contemplated by the Executive 
Ethics Code in respect of the Minister’s official responsibilities, if any, in respect of the awarding of the tender;

• The contents of the complaint, media reports referred to, correspondence pertaining to the tender, tender docu-
ments, letters of demand from attorneys acting on behalf of I T Lynx and the pleadings filed in its civil claim against 
the State Information Technology Agency and the Minister that were considered during the investigation, con-
tained no indication that Mr Majali or Imvume Management was involved in I T Lynx;

• The Minister was not involved in the loan transaction between his wife and Mr Majali. He was only informed about 
it after the arrangement had been agreed upon. The information obtained during the investigation provided no 
indication that the evidence in this regard should be viewed with any greater circumspection.

FINDINGS
From the investigation it was found that the Minister was probably not aware of Mr Majali’s interest in I T Lynx at the 
time when the loan was granted to his wife or at the time when he approached the Minister of Finance recommending 
that the contract for the new social grant payment system be implemented. As Mr Majali’s interest in I T Lynx is remote 
and was not disclosed during the tender process, it could also not reasonably have been expected of him to have been 
aware thereof.

No indication could be found from the investigation that the loan granted by Mr Majali to Mrs Skweyiya in December 
2003 had any influence or bearing on the manner in which the Minister performed any of his official responsibilities in 
respect of the efforts of the Department to replace its social grant administration system and the legal action that has 
been instituted by I T Lynx in regard thereto.

The Minister conceded during the investigation that he had failed to disclose the benefit of the interest free loan granted 
to his wife, as required by the Executive Ethics Code.

It is disconcerting that the process of the replacement of the SOCPEN system has been put on hold because of litiga-
tion in connection with the said tender, despite the fact that investigations have indicated huge financial losses to the 
Department as a result of the shortcomings and failures of the current system. The said litigation can take years before 
it is finalised, while the losses to the State would continue to increase. The fact that the Department and the National 
Treasury failed to find a solution to the impasse between them relating to the replacement of the SOCPEN system has 
clearly and might in the future still delay the process further, resulting in unacceptable amount of public money being 
wasted.

The following key findings were made:
• The allegation that the loan granted by Mr Majali to Mrs Skweyiya in December 2003 resulted in the Minister of 

Social Development exposing himself to a situation involving the risk of a conflict of interest which constituted a 
breach of the Executive Ethics Code, is unfounded; and

• The failure of the Minister of Social Development to disclose the benefit of the interest free loan granted to his wife 
by Mr Majali in December 2003 constituted a breach of the Executive Ethics Code.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that:
• The President take urgent steps to ensure that the issues delaying the replacement of the SOCPEN system are 

resolved in the least costly but most effective manner; and

• The Secretary of the Cabinet take steps to ensure that the Minister of Social Development makes a proper disclo-
sure in terms of the provisions of paragraph 6 of the Executive Ethics Code of the interest free loan granted to his 
wife by Mr Majali in December 2003.
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6.4  National Departments
6.4.1 DEPARTMENT OF ARTS AND CULTURE

MEDIATION
Report No 73 of 2006/07

The Public Protector received a complaint from the President of 
the South African Roadies Association (SARA). He alleged that 
he had approached the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) 
in October 2004 with a request to fund return air tickets for 16 
South African youths who were to take part in training provided 
by Universoul Circus in Atlanta, United States of America.

It was alleged that after SARA had lodged an application for 
funding, an official of the DAC assured the complainant tele-
phonically that his application would be successful, but he sub-
sequently received a letter from the DAC informing him that the 
application for funding was unsuccessful. The complainant al-
leged further that SARA confirmed the travelling arrangements 
on the basis of the verbal promises and guarantees by the of-
ficial, and requested compensation for the expenses incurred. 
However, the DAC denied giving any assurances to fund the 
trip.

The complainant was advised that any claim for damages he 
might wish to bring against the DAC for allegedly reneging on 
its commitment, would best be resolved by a court of law, as the 
Public Protector did not have the authority to make any orders for compensation.

The complainant further alleged that he had written to the DAC on several occasions requesting meetings and he 
received no responses to these requests.  The complainant furnished copies of the letters written to the DAC and it 
was noted from this correspondence that SARA had long outstanding and unresolved issues with the DAC, and that 
the present situation aggravated the already strained relationship between the parties.

The Public Protector decided that the issues could best be resolved through the process of mediation between the 
parties in terms of section 6(4) (b) of the Public Protector Act, 1994.

The Office of the Public Protector mediated between the parties and the parties agreed as follows:
• The request for compensation by SARA would best be resolved by a court of law.
• Communication between the parties should be in writing to avoid situations like the present one where SARA al-

leged they were promised funding and the DAC denied it.
• The DAC would facilitate a meeting between itself and SARA to discuss and reach agreement on how they would 

deal with the following issues:
• Assistance to SARA by the DAC to strengthen Sara’s international relations;
• The funding by the DAC of international trips for youths;
• Sara’s request for funding of its operational / administrative costs.
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6.4.2  DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS AND TOURISM

COURTEOUS CONDUCT BY OFFICIALS
Report No 15 of 2006/07

Complainant approached the Office of the Public Protector with 
a complaint that an official of the Department of Environmental 
Affairs and Tourism  treated him in a discourteous manner.  The 
official denied that she had been discourteous towards com-
plainant, and alleged that it was complainant who had been ag-
gressive towards her.

This office held the view that complainant would have been en-
titled to redress in the form of an apology for any discourteous 
conduct where found to be present, suffered at the hands of a 
public official. Based on the available information however, this 
office was unable to find that the official acted in a discourteous 
manner towards complainant. In any event, it was noted that in a 
meeting held between complainant and the official, both parties 
appeared to have admitted shortcomings in their treatment of 
each other. In this regard, the official apologised to complain-
ant.
Over and above an apology, complainant requested the Department to appoint him as a Batho Pele Co-ordinator, ap-
parently as a form of redress.  

FINDINGS
In the circumstances, it was found that complainant was not entitled to insist that the Department appoint him merely on 
the grounds of an allegation of discourteous conduct on the part of an official.

6.4.3 DEPARTMENT OF HOME AFFAIRS

ALLEGED FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A DISTRICT OFFICE / SERVICE POINT AT BREDASDORP 
Report No 12 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated allegations that the Department of Home Affairs had failed to cater for the 
service needs of the inhabitants of Bredasdorp and surrounding areas by failing to establish a district office or a service 
point in the town, contrary to the Batho Pele principles. It was alleged that as a result of the aforesaid failure, the commu-
nity of Bredasdorp and surrounding areas were denied the services to which they were entitled and / or if the members 
of the community were desirous of accessing the aforesaid services they were compelled to travel to Caledon costing 
R200.00 for the return trip by public transport. The complainant, who approached the Office of the Public Protector on 
behalf of the community during an outreach visit, believed that it would not be possible to persuade the Department to 
accede to his request for a local service point on his own. 

The Office of the Public Protector accordingly engaged the Department and, after a brief exchange of correspondence, 
the Department acceded to the request to establish a permanent service delivery point in Bredasdorp. The Department 
pointed out that it was not possible to establish a district office in the town as the population figures for the establishment 
of same were insufficient. It was stated that the norm is about 80 000 inhabitants before consideration can be given for 
the establishment of a district office. 

Nevertheless, the Department has given approval for the planning for the establishment of an office smaller than a dis-
trict office, but including provision of infrastructure, equipment and staff. 

The Provincial Manager of the Department was tasked to provide interim relief measures through utilising a mobile unit 
that will make visits at specified regular intervals. 
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FINDINGS
The key findings of the Public Protector were as follows:

• It was established that the Department had no offices and/or 
presence within Bredasdorp and its surrounds, thus severely 
limiting its accessibility to the aforesaid community as the near-
est office was located more than 100km away in Caledon. 

• The Department has acceded to the request from the Office of 
the Public Protector to establish a permanent service delivery 
point to Bredasdorp. 

• The Provincial Manager has been mandated to introduce interim 
relief measures like a mobile unit until the permanent service 
delivery point office has been established. 

• A schedule of visits to the area from the Departmental staff has 
been furnished to the Office and the interim relief measures 
mentioned above have commenced. 

The Department acceded to the request made by the Public Protec-
tor and cooperated fully with this investigation. A formal recommen-
dation in this regard was thus not necessary, but the Department 
was commended for its prompt and positive response. However, the Public Protector recommended that the Depart-
ment systemically apply the criteria utilised in the present instance in all appropriate similar circumstances elsewhere 
in the country.

6.4.4  DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT

WRONGFUL IMPRISONMENT
Report No 13 of 2006/07

A prisoner approached the office of the Public Protector in February 2006 with a complaint that he never received any 
response from the Magistrates’ Court, Germiston regarding the progress or outcome of an appeal that he lodged in 
2003.  At the time complainant was still incarcerated at the Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre.
When the matter was investigated it was established that the complainant’s appeal succeeded on 14 September 
2004 in the Transvaal Provincial Division of the High Court of SA. The convictions were set aside and he should have 
been released.

The Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre advised that according to their records the warrant of liberation was 
never received from the Clerk of the Court, Germiston, and they were not telephonically notified of the fact that the 
complainant had to be released.

After the intervention of the Office of the Public Protector the complainant was released on 17 March 2006.   
The Clerk of the Court, Germiston, could not provide any document to confirm that the warrant of liberation had 
been duly issued or processed to comply with the court order, and to effect the immediate release of complainant in 
September 2004.

FINDINGS
The Public Protector found that the inference was unavoidable that the Clerk of the Court, Germiston, failed to take 
the necessary steps in terms of the relevant Departmental Instructions to issue a warrant of liberation for the release 
of complainant in September 2004, and to notify the Head of Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre that complain-
ant conviction had been set aside on appeal and that he had to be released immediately.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Complainant was severely prejudiced by the above maladministration to the extent that his right to freedom has been 
violated by the actions of the State. In the circumstances it was recommended that the Department consider 



ex gratia compensation out of compassion for the miscarriage of justice and the gross injustice suffered by the com-
plainant in this matter.

6.4.5  DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE:  TZANEEN MAGISTRATES’ COURT

ALLEGED FAILURE TO PROCESS AN APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL 
Report No 64 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint by a 
complainant, a prisoner at Kutama Sinthumule Maximum Pris-
on, in connection with the failure by Tzaneen regional court, the 
court that convicted and sentenced the complainant, to process 
his application for leave to appeal. 

Inquiries were made with the Regional Court as to the circum-
stances surrounding the application and reasons for the delay.

The response was that the prisoner’s court records could not be 
located after a diligent search. It was also stated that besides the 
complainant’s records, there were several court files belonging 
to other prisoners that were also missing.

Upon receipt of this disturbing response, the Office of the Public 
Protector decided to conduct an inspection in loco at the Tza-
neen Magistrates’ Court offices in order to assess the filing envi-
ronment and the general conditions of the premises.

During the inspection in loco the following observations were made: 
• Court records and government gazettes were piled on the floor in the interpreter’s office without boxes.
• Files were strewn in the old holding cell which is used as a filing room. There are no functional lights in this 

room.  

• There were electrical cables lying on the floor and submerged in water in one of the filing rooms.  The room was 
also infested with insects.

• Some files are kept in the conference room which also serves as a consulting room for juvenile cases, therefore 
not always accessible to the clerk of the court.

• There was a shortage of filing boxes, and some court records and cassettes are placed in one plastic bag without 
labels, making it difficult to locate them.

• The current holding cells and one of the filing rooms are divided by a security gate, making it possible for male 
prisoners to harass female court officials. 

• There is a mobile Regional Court, which is so small that both the presiding officer and the prosecutor sit very close 
to the accused, which poses a serious safety risk.

• Officials indicated the shortage of storage boxes as a major concern.
• The Acting Court Manager indicated that even if he bought the storage boxes there would be no space to keep 

them.
• It became clear during the inspection that the officials were not marking some of the records properly.  
• One person is working as a clerk of the court for three district courts, as well as three periodical regional courts.

FINDINGS
Following the above, the following findings were made:
• That the complainant’s right to due legal process has been violated as he has been deprived of the right to appeal 

against a court decision;
• That there is no sufficient administrative staff to manage court documents;
• That the filing system is in disarray and approaching a state of total collapse;
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• That the Department has neglected the court premises;
• That the Department is failing to assist the Clerk of the Court in dealing with the appeal applications, particularly 

where records are missing;

• That there is no adequate filing space;
• That there is no sufficient courtroom space.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended -
• That the Department initiates an investigation into the circumstances surrounding the missing court records and 

devise means and strategies to prevent recurrence of similar events.
• That the Department devises a strategy to finalise all appeal cases that are delayed due to missing court 

records.
• That all files and other records in the holding cells, conference room and offices be removed and stored in a safe 

and suitable place with immediate effect.
• That the Department appoints a clerk of the court who deals specifically with regional court matters.
• That the Department of Labour conducts an inspection at Tzaneen Magistrates’ Court.
• That additional office space, including that for the regional court, be provided. 

6.4.6 DEPARTMENT OF LAND AFFAIRS

UNDUE DELAY
Report No 76 of 2006/07

Members of the Sheepfold Association acquired a farm in the Fochville area in the North West Province through the 
Land Redistribution Programme of the Department of Land Affairs. The group intended to engage in a number of 
agricultural enterprises.

When the enterprise started there were allegations that the Chairperson of the Sheepfold Association was not ac-
countable to the rest of the Sheepfold Association members. Officials from both the Gauteng Provincial Land Reform 
Office and North West Provincial Department of Agriculture held meetings with the Sheepfold Association members 
in an attempt to mediate in the already violent situation. All mediation efforts were constantly rebutted by the Sheep-
fold Association Executive Committee.

In desperation, aggrieved members of the Sheepfold Association sought advice on how best to call for a general 
meeting at which a new Executive Committee could be elected. They succeeded and a Chairperson of the Interim 
Executive Committee was elected. The new Executive Committee later found itself in a hopeless situation as the 
Chairperson of the outvoted Executive Committee refused to surrender all equipment and resources needed to 
resume farming operations. This resulted in the existence of two Sheepfold Association Executive Committees.

Aggrieved members of the Sheepfold Association approached a member of the Gauteng Legislature. This resulted 
in a meeting with members of the Portfolio Committee of Land and Housing and North West Provincial Department 
of Agriculture and the outvoted Executive Committee in an attempt to investigate the root of the problem. Another 
general meeting was held later.

During deliberations on the dispute affecting the Sheepfold Association, disgruntled members of the Sheepfold As-
sociation continued to level allegations of financial mismanagement against the outvoted Chairperson. The media-
tors then decided to make recommendations to the Director General of Land Affairs to intervene in the dispute. The 
Director General then decided to appoint a mediator who reported back and made certain recommendations but the 
aggrieved Sheepfold Association members could not get the outvoted Chairperson to cooperate.

The aggrieved group approached the Legal Resources Centre, who advised them that the Director General could in-
tervene in the ongoing conflict in terms of section 11(6) of the CPA Act.  This section empowers the Director General 
to enforce an election of a new Executive Committee. The Legal Resources Centre wrote to the Director General, 
requesting him to exercise his discretion in this regard.



The aggrieved members of the Sheepfold Association then lodged a complaint with the Office of the Public Protector. 
They requested the office to investigate the delay of the Director General and/or Gauteng Provincial Land Reform Office 
to appoint the service provider to facilitate the election of a new Executive Committee.

FINDINGS
From the investigation the following key findings were made:
• The Sheepfold Association experienced internal conflict and problems since its registration.
• The GPLRO and DLA have tried to assist the Sheepfold Association to resolve their problems by taking all reason-

able steps in terms of the CPA Act.
• Mediation could not succeed because the outvoted Chairperson and his group did not co-operate with all other 

parties involved in the conflict resolution.
• Maladministration and fraud charges as contemplated in section 14 of the CPA Act, were brought against the out-

voted Chairperson by some of the aggrieved Sheepfold Association members, but were not successful.
• The appointment of a service provider to chair new elections was the only legitimate remaining option. The Gau-

teng Provincial Land Reform Office already indicated that they were consulting their legal services to investigate 
intervention in this respect.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that:
• The Director General proceed with the appointment of a facilitator to assist the Sheepfold Association to have a 

general meeting in order to elect a legitimate Executive Committee, within a period of six months after the date of 
this report.

• Should the Director General not be successful in implementing the recommendation in the paragraph above, he 
should consider disbanding the original Executive Committee, take over the administration of the affairs of the 
Sheepfold association, and institute an enquiry into their affairs in terms of section 11(2) of the CPA Act.

• Alternatively to the recommendation in the paragraph above the Director-General could consider deregistration of 
the Sheepfold Association.

6.4.7 DEPARTMENT OF TRADE AND INDUSTRY

COMMUNICATION WITH CONTRACTOR
Report No 6 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint against the Department of Trade and Industry 
relating to alleged abuse and misuse of power as well as alleged failure to pay a service provider in ac-
cordance with the agreement between the parties.

During 2005 the complainant was appointed as a service provider for the development and drafting of guidelines for the 
human resource development portion of the Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment Scorecard. The complainant 
submitted three invoices for work done, but was apparently paid less than the amounts claimed in the invoices. The 
complainant queried the apparent underpayments as well as the deduction of additional tax. The complainant was 
furthermore aggrieved by the fact that the Project Manager failed to approve payment of the amount claimed in a fourth 
invoice.

When the Department did not respond satisfactorily, the complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of the Public 
Protector.

After conducting a preliminary investigation into the allegations, it was established that the complainant was appointed 
as “a personal service company” by the Department. As a result additional tax in the form of “employees’ tax” had to be 
deducted from all payments made to the complainant.

The Department also explained that the complainant had been informed in writing that the information contained in the 
fourth invoice was insufficient to certify the payment, and a detailed invoice was requested, but never received.
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FINDINGS
The Public Protector found that the Department is not withholding any payments or part-payments unreasonably 
from the complainant, and he was urged to submit the supporting information required to finalise payment in terms 
of the final invoice. The Public Protector however recorded his concern about the fact that the Department failed 
to communicate with the complainant about certain issues regarding the complainant’s action as regulated by their 
contractual relationship, as well as the substitution of the complainant by another service provider.  

RECOMMENDATIONS
It was recommended that the Department take urgent steps to formally communicate with the complainant to clarify 
the position as far as the contractual relationship was concerned.

6.4.8 DEPARTMENT OF WATER AFFAIRS AND FORESTRY

Interim report on an investigation into complaints by people and 
communities who were allegedly adversely affected by the con-
struction of the Nandoni Dam in Vhembe District, Limpopo 
Province

This report deals with complaints lodged by individuals and com-
munities from the following villages: Mutoti, Budeli, Mulenzhe, 
Tshilungoma, Dididi, Tshitomboni, Mphego and Tshaulu.

Their basic complaint is that they were negatively affected by the 
construction of Nandoni Dam, which stretches from Mutoti to Tshi-
tomboni village.

The complaints are mainly on the following issues: inadequate or 
lack of compensation for loss of the right to access to arable land 
and loss of agricultural production, secure access to the river, 
compensation for domestic fruit trees, compensation for commer-
cial fruit orchards or farms, poor quality or workmanship on newly 
built houses, lack of toilet facilities, lack of sports grounds, reloca-
tion of graves, traditional medicinal plants, poor communication, 
poorly constructed fences and access roads, water supply, dam safety, fraudulent claims, and other related matters.

The Office of the Public Protector conducted an investigation, which included a public hearing and an inspection in loco.  

FINDINGS
• The investigation established that most of the complaints were genuine, and others were found to be baseless or 

very minor. 

• Communication breakdown between the Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF) and the affected indi-
viduals or communities was found to be the underlying problem.

• It was also established that the main cause of the communication breakdown was the dissolution by DWAF of a 
community liaison structure called the Community Action Committee (the CAC).

• As communication breakdown was identified as the underlying problem, it has been recommended that dialogue 
between the complainants and DWAF be resumed in order to identify and address outstanding issues.



RECOMMENDATIONS
In terms of the provisions of section 182(1) (c) of the Constitution, 1996, and section 6 (4) (c) (ii) of the Public Protector 
Act, 1994 as amended, it was recommended that: 

• A committee be formed comprising of 10 representatives from the affected villages (Budeli, Tswinga, Mphego, 
Tshaulu, Mutoti, Mulenzhe, Tshitomboni, Tshilungoma, Muledane and Dididi), the former Chairperson of CAC, at 
least 2, but not more than 5 DWAF representatives and 2 BKS members,

• The function of the above committee will be to identify and confirm all the complaints that could not be verified dur-
ing the hearing and to recommend corrective measures or the implementation of the findings,  

• The committee should prepare a project plan detailing how the findings in this report are to be implemented. The 
project plan should include time frames within which the identified gaps referred to in this report would be recti-
fied, 

• The project plan should be submitted to the Public Protector within 3 months from the date of the committee’s first 
sitting, which is scheduled to take place during the month of November 2006,  

• The OPP, through its Limpopo office, convenes and chair the committee meetings and facilitates its activities, 
including reporting back to the Public Protector and DWAF,

• The committee completes its work within 12 months from the date of approval of the project plan or such date/s 
that the Public Protector may in appropriate circumstances determine and 

• DWAF effects corrective measures on those complaints that were proved to be genuine during the inspection in 
loco.

6.4.9 SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL DEFENCE FORCE

INTEGRATION INTO SANDF
Report No 71 of 2006/07

An investigation was conducted by the Office of the Public Protector, into allegations of improper conduct, due to the 
non-integration of the members of the Cape Corps into the South African National Defence Force.  Ex-members of the 
Cape Corps initiated the investigation by lodging a complaint. The complainants alleged that in terms of the Interim Con-
stitution of the Republic of South Africa, Act 2000 of 1993, all members of the Cape Corps as members of the SA Defence 
Force should have been integrated into the South African National Defence Force (SANDF) 

FINDINGS
It was however found that the exclusion of the members of the Cape Corps from the certified personnel register of the 
SANDF was correct in terms of the objectives of the legislation applicable to the integration process.

6.4.10  SOUTH AFRICAN POLICE SERVICE
 

ALLEGED IMPROPER SERVICE DELIVERY IN THE INVESTIGATION OF AN ACCIDENT REPORTED IN 1999 AT 
THE HEUNINGSVLEI POLICE STATION
Report  No 59 of 2006/07
 
The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint from Mr. X in connection with alleged improper service deliv-
ery by members of the South African Police Service in the investigation of an accident that occurred in 1999. The brother 
of the complainant was allegedly killed in the accident by a parolee, driving a tractor belonging to a member of the South 
African Police Services stationed at Severn in the Northern Cape. 

It was alleged that:

• Members of the South African Police Service failed to diligently perform their duties in that they had allegedly not 
properly investigated the circumstances in which the deceased was killed. 

• The SAPS never followed up on the matter after the accused was released from custody and taken to the Severn 
Police Station for further investigation, and no one had since the accident been prosecuted for any offence.
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FINDINGS
From the investigation it was found that:

• Members at the Heuningsvlei Police Station did open a case docket for investigation after the accident and charged 
Mr Y for culpable homicide.  

• Mr Y was, whilst awaiting trial at Heuningsvlei Police Station, transferred to the Severn Police Station to be charged 
for the use of a motor vehicle without the owners consent. 

• The accused escaped from lawful custody from the Severn Police Station before he could be prosecuted for any of 
the alleged offences in a court of law.

• The contention that members of the SAPS did not perform their duties diligently and that they had allegedly not 
properly investigated the circumstances in which the deceased was killed, and that they had not followed up on the 
matter after the accused was released from custody at the Heuningsvlei Police Station, is unfounded. 

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that:

• The Area Commissioner of the South African Police Service, Molopo, take urgent steps to ensure that:

• Mr Y is re-arrested and that all the charges against him are joined in terms of the provisions of the Criminal Procedure 
Act, 1977, 

• Mr. X is informed of the status of the investigation in connection with the death of his brother and as to why the sus-
pect had not been prosecuted;

• The investigation of the case of Culpable Homicide is properly concluded. Once Mr Y is arrested, the possibility of 
changing the charge to Murder should be discussed with the Senior Public Prosecutor involved, and;

•      Mr. X is regularly informed of the developments regarding the matter.

6.4.11  SOUTH AFRICAN REVENUE SERVICE:  CUSTOMS

CONDUCT BY CUSTOMS OFFICIALS
Report No 14 of 2006/07

The Public Protector received a complaint by a company against the South African Revenue Service.  The company 
alleged that it had been the target of a witch-hunt and unfair conduct by the Customs Division of the South African Rev-
enue Service (SARS).  The complaint was that SARS classified certain goods imported by the company under incorrect 
tariff headings, and that the inspection conducted by SARS (Customs in Durban) on the said company, as well as the 
subsequent penalty imposed by SARS for the underpayment of tariff duty, were improper.

The company was involved in the business of importing steel and materials made of cast and wrought iron.  An inspec-
tion of goods imported by the company was conducted by Customs officials in Durban and a finding was made to the 
effect that the company had classified some of its imported goods under incorrect tariff headings and thus avoided to pay 
customs duty on such goods.  As a result, the company was fined a total amount of over R3 000 000 as underpayment 
of custom duty and penalties.

A preliminary investigation was conducted in order to determine whether or not to pursue an investigation into the com-
plaint. 

FINDINGS
It was found that:
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• Customs officials had all the right to inspect and impose penalties where 
 they had reason to believe that complainants had contravened the provisions of the Act. 

• Allegations that the inspection conducted by Customs officials and the outcome was merely a witch-hunt had no 
basis.  Even if complainants’ classification was correct, they did not present any evidence that SARS was acting 
in a mala fide way.  The fact that complainants differed from the view of SARS on the classification issue in itself 
did not support mala fides or improper conduct on the part of SARS.  It was, after all, the duty of Customs to do 
inspections based on their interpretation of the tariff headings which interpretation might be challenged through the 
available legal procedures.

• In terms of section 91 of the Act, complainant had an option of lodging an appeal to the Commissioner against the 
findings of Customs officials but chose not to exercise this option until it prescribed.

• The merits of the issues raised by complainant were debatable.  A court of law was the best forum that may pro-
nounce on the correct classification of the goods in question.

• Complainant should approach a court of law for appropriate recourse.

6.4.12 NATIONAL TREASURY

ALLEGED IMPROPER REFUSAL TO IMPLEMENT CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE SPECIAL PENSIONS 
AMENDMENT ACT, 2005
Report No 19 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated allegations that the 
National Treasury has refused to effect increases of special pensions 
to beneficiaries as mandated by the Special Pensions Amendment 
Act 2005 (Act 27 of 2005).

In terms of the amendment to Schedule 3 of the Special Pensions 
Act, 1996 (Act 69 of 1996), beneficiaries who were at least 50 years 
of age [but younger than 65] on the date of promulgation were en-
titled until death to the following pension benefits: R12 000 plus R1 
200 for each year of service exceeding 5 years with the maximum 
amount of R42 000. Where years of service exceed 25 years, a fixed 
amount of R84 000 became payable.  The amendment to the ben-
efits in Schedule 3 was promulgated in the Government Gazette on 
the 16 January 2006. 

In terms of the above-described criterion, the complainant became 
entitled to an increased benefit of R84 000 per annum by reason of 
his age and years of service.

Having engaged the National Treasury in regard to the complaint, the Office was informed that an error had crept into 
the legislation during the administrative processing of the Act. Consequently, National Treasury asserted, the words 
complained of do not reflect the intention of the legislature. It was further stated that the error had been brought to the 
attention of Parliament and that National Treasury was in the process of preparing draft legislation to correct the error 
and that same would soon be presented to Cabinet for approval before it is introduced to Parliament within the next few 
months.  It was not explained how long this process might take. 

FINDINGS
The investigation found the following: 
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• On the face of it, the complainant appeared to be justified in feeling aggrieved when the National Treasury refused to 
effect the increase as apparently mandated by the current (i.e. amended) legislation. 

• The complaint appears to affect a substantial number of special pensions beneficiaries.

• The National Treasury appears to have been aware of the error for quite some time but that, short of drafting a pro-
posed amendment, nothing further appears to have been done, for example, applying to the High Court to suspend 
the relevant portion/s of the offending legislation. 

• The National Treasury appeared not to have initiated a process of informing all the affected parties of the error indi-
vidually apart from holding provincial road shows. 

• It could not be established how the so-called error crept into the legislation during the administrative processing as 
same was not explained. 

• Inasmuch as there was no substantiating evidence to support the contention that the error appears to have come into 
the legislation during administrative processing there was, similarly, no evidence to contrary. 

The following key finding was made:

• As the legislation currently stands, the grievance by the complainant appears well founded.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that:

• The offending legislation be urgently amended to accurately reflect the alleged intention of the legislature. 
• National Treasury urgently consider the advisability of applying to the High Court for an order declaring the alleged 

error to be immediately suspended pending the publication of the correct amendment.
• National Treasury inform the recipients of special pensions affected by the said relevant provisions of the error made 

and the steps that are being taken to rectify the offending legislation. 

6.5  Provincial Departments
6.5.1  LIMPOPO: DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

UNDUE DELAY
Report No 72 of 2006/07

Complainant was employed by the Department of Education:  Limpopo Province (the Department) as a teacher.

The complainant alleged that she had been experiencing serious financial difficulties due to the fact that the Department 
had not paid or unduly delayed to pay her monthly salary.  She alleged that from July 1999 until September 2000 she 
had not received any salary due to her.  However, in October 2000 complainant received six cheques, each to the value 
of her monthly salary.  Complainant further alleged that after payment of the six cheques the Department ceased to pay 
her salary again until July 2002 when she received two cheques, each to the value of her monthly salary.  Complainant 
then engaged the services of an attorney and in September 2002 three salary cheques were handed over to her attor-
ney.  Thereafter, however, she did not receive any payment until November 2003 when she received six cheques.  From 
the end of November 2003 complainant’s salary was paid into her bank account on a regular basis. 

The Department denied the allegations that they had failed or unduly delayed in paying complainant’s salary on a 
monthly basis.  They said that complainant’s cheques were issued on a monthly basis but in most cases the cheques 
could not be handed over to her because she often refused to sign acknowledgement of receipt.
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FINDINGS
The investigation revealed that complainant indeed did not receive her salary on certain occasions and that she re-
ceived her salary payments late for several months during the period between July 1999 and October 2003.  This was 
however not due to any improper conduct on the part of the Department, but to complainant’s unreasonable attitude 
and refusal to sign for her salary cheques.  The investigation further revealed that complainant provided the Department 
with her banking details in November 2003 and from then on her salary was regularly paid into her banking account.  It 
was therefore found that the allegation that the Department failed or delayed to pay complainant’s monthly salary was 
unsubstantiated.

6.5.2 FREE STATE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT

DEPARTMENT OF PREMIER
Report no 68 of 2006/07

Report on an investigation of an allegation of impropriety relating to the termination of the services of a former employee 
of the Free State Provincial Government

The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint lodged by the Public Servants Association in connection with 
the alleged failure of the Free Sate Provincial Department of the Premier to terminate the services of an employee who 
had allegedly been absent from his duties without leave for a substantial period.

During the investigation it transpired that the services of the employee concerned had been terminated by mutual agree-
ment and that he had been paid an amount of R1.3 million as a severance package.

The information obtained during the investigation revealed that the employee had lodged a grievance with the Public 
Service Commission (PSC) against his supervisor. The PSC recommended that he be transferred to another depart-
ment.  The employee could however not be permanently accommodated in the Department to which he was transferred. 
Attempts to transfer him to another department failed. After numerous attempts over a period of more than 2 years to 
resolve the difficulties with regard to the employee’s position and as he was threatening legal action against the Free 
State Provincial Government, the former Premier decided to terminate his services by mutual agreement and that he 
should be paid a severance package.

FINDINGS
The key finding made from the investigation was that the unfortunate manner in which the services of the employee 
were terminated and the expenditure involved could have been avoided had his grievance against his supervisor been 
attended to properly and timeously.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that:

The Director General, in consultation with the Premier, takes steps to ensure that managers in the Department of the 
Premier:

• Are properly acquainted with the prescribed grievance procedures; and 

• Are properly trained in conflict resolution mechanisms to enable them to attend to interpersonal conflict in a profes-
sional manner.
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6.5.3 PREMIER OF THE FREE STATE

REPORT ON AN INVESTIGATION INTO ALLEGATIONS OF NON-COMPLIANCE BY THE PREMIER OF THE FREE 
STATE PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE FREE STATE YOUTH COMMISSION ACT, 
1996
Report no 66 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated complaints by Members of the Free State Provincial Legislature in con-
nection with the appointment by the Premier of a “caretaker” Commissioner for and new members of the Free State 
Youth Commission (Youth Commission). It was alleged that these appointments failed to comply with the provisions 
of the Free State Youth Commission Act, 1996 (the Youth Commission Act) and that it was therefore unlawful and im-
proper.

From the investigation it transpired that the term of office of the former members of the Youth Commission expired on 
31 May 2004. The former Premier left it in the hands of her successor, who took office in April 2004, to appoint the new 
members of the Youth Commission.

On 13 May 2004, the Premier informed the former Chairperson of the Youth Commission that his term of office was 
extended as she had decided to appoint him as a “caretaker” for the Commission until the new members had been ap-
pointed.

The Department of the Premier subsequently called for nomination of candidates to be appointed as Commissioners. 
On receipt of the nominations, the Premier forwarded it to the Speaker with the request that a committee of the Legisla-
ture should advise her on the appointments to be made, in terms of section 3 of the Youth Commission Act. The Speaker 
forwarded the nominations to the Chairperson of the Legislature’s Committee on Finance, Office of the Premier and the 
Legislature (the Committee) on 29 July 2004, requesting the Committee to consider it in order to advise the Premier.

After having considered the request of the Speaker, the Committee resolved that the Premier followed an incorrect pro-
cedure as nominations had to be called for by the Committee. Advertisements calling for nominations to be submitted 
to the Committee were accordingly published early in September 2004. The Premier objected to the advertisements 
placed by the Committee, but a legal opinion obtained by the Speaker indicated that the decision of the Committee in 
this regard was correct.

Despite several requests by the Premier for the advice of the Committee in order to enable her to appoint the new Com-
missioners, the Committee failed to finalise its deliberations regarding the matter. Early in August 2005, the Department 
of the Premier published a notice stating that the Premier intended appointing certain individuals as members of the 
Youth Commission. The Chairperson of the Committee lodged an objection with the Speaker to which the Premier re-
sponded by indicating that as the Committee had failed to advise her, as requested in July 2004, it clearly had no advice 
to offer. The Premier appointed the new members of the Youth Commission with effect from 15 August 2005.

FINDINGS
From the investigation it was mainly found that:

• The appointment by the Premier of a “caretaker Commissioner” was not provided for by Youth Commission Act. 

• The advertisements by the Department of the Premier calling for nominations did not comply with the provisions of 
the Youth Commission Act, as it is the function of the Committee to invite nominations. The request of the Speaker 
addressed to the Committee to advise the Premier on the said nominations was therefore inappropriate.

• The failure of the Committee to communicate its concerns relating to the conduct of the Premier resulted in an inter-
governmental dispute and impasse, which both parties were constitutionally obliged to resolve.

• As no minutes were kept of the deliberations of the Committee, the details of its discussions and the reasons for its 
decisions and actions could not be verified. No indication could be found that the nominations were ever considered 
for the purpose of advising the Premier.



• The failing of the Committee to record the proceedings of its meetings militates against the principles of good gov-
ernance, i.e. openness, transparency and accountability. Records are not only kept for mere posterity, but remain 
a source of future reference and public scrutiny. 

• It is most disturbing that the Committee has failed to report to the Speaker on the request of the Premier to be 
advised that was referred to it more than 20 months ago.

• It is furthermore disconcerting that the Speaker apparently did very little to intervene and to expedite a decision 
and report of the Committee in connection with the matter. Once the matter was referred to the Committee, the 
Speaker apparently made no effort to follow up on the progress made in respect of the request of the Premier.

• Section 3 of the Youth Commission Act is peremptory in respect of the requirement that the Premier could only 
have made the appointment of new members of the Commission after having been advised accordingly by the 
Committee. There is no indication in the Act or the Constitution that the Premier could exercise a discretion in this 
regard and make appointments on the basis of an assumption of what the advice of the Committee may or may 
not have been.

• The only reason why the appointment of new members for the Youth Commission was delayed from July 2004 to 
August 2005 was the lack of cooperation between the Speaker, the Committee and the Premier.

• The failure by the Committee to report to the Speaker on their concerns relating to the procedure adopted by the 
Premier in relation to the appointments, as it was compelled to do, prevented the matter from being raised, de-
bated and rectified by the Legislature, to which the Premier is accountable.

• The failure on the part of the Speaker to effectively intervene in the matter after having been informed by the Pre-
mier of the failure by the Committee to respond to her request for advice, further complicated the matter.

• Despite having been afforded the powers to investigate and report on the irregular procedure followed by the 
Premier, the Committee failed to do so. The Chairperson apparently chose to raise the issues bothering the Com-
mittee only at a party political level, which was improper.

The key findings made from the investigation are that:

• The failure of the Speaker and the Chairperson of the Committee to cooperate with the Premier in mutual trust and 
good faith in respect of her request for advice in relation to the appointment of new members of the Youth Commis-
sion was inconsistent with the Constitution. The delay caused by lack of cooperation also violated the requirement 
of diligence in respect of the performance of constitutional obligations;

• The decisions of the Premier to appoint a “caretaker Commissioner” for and the new members of the Youth Com-
mission were invalid and therefore improper; and

• The failure of the Committee to keep minutes of its deliberations in respect of the advice requested by the Premier 
relating to the appointment of new members of the Youth Commission was improper and amounted to maladmin-
istration.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that:

• The Premier urgently obtains legal advice regarding the appropriate legal remedy to rectify the invalidity of her 
decision to appoint the new members of the Youth Commission in the absence of the advice of the Committee;

• The Committee on Ethics and Members’ Interests of the Free State Provincial Legislature conduct an investigation 
in terms of the Standing Rules and Orders of the Legislature to determine whether the conduct of the Premier,
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  Speaker and Chairperson of the Committee referred to in this report, constituted a breach of the Code of Conduct 
and Ethics for Members of the Free State Provincial Legislature; 

• The Head of the Free State Provincial Treasury directs, in terms of Regulation 4.1.3 of the Treasury Regulations is-
sued in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999, that an official other than an employee of the Department 
of the Premier, conduct an investigation into the appropriateness of the expenditure incurred by the said Department 
in respect of the appointment of the “caretaker Commissioner” for and the new members of the Youth Commission; 
and

• The Speaker of the Free State Provincial Legislature take urgent steps to ensure that the proceedings at all meetings 
of the Committee are properly recorded.

6.5.4 GAUTENG:  DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

PSYCHOLOGY INTERN CERTIFICATION
Report No 18 of 2006/7

The office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint by a contract 
psychology intern at Tara Hospital. The hospital is under the jurisdic-
tion of the Department of Health.

The complainant’s allegations were as follows:
• She was contracted with Tara Hospital for her psychology internship 

from January 2005 – December 2005;
• She complied with all requirements to warrant her to be issued with 

an intern certificate;
• An official at Tara Hospital delayed the issuing of her intern certificate 

because of incompetence, dereliction of duty, racism and more.

The Public Protector’s observation was that Tara Hospital and the Pro-
fessional Board for Psychology properly followed the guidelines and poli-
cies governing the training and placement of intern psychologists.

FINDINGS
It was found that the allegation that there had been an undue delay to issue the complainant with an intern psychology 
certificate was without a basis.  The perceived delay was as a result of the complainant not having completed the edu-
cational component of her internship. The complaint was therefore not well founded.

6.5.5 KWAZULU/NATAL: DEPARTMENT OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND 
 TRADITIONAL AFFAIRS

UNDUE DELAY TO SUBMIT PENSION WITHDRAWAL DOCUMENTS
Report No 75 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector conducted an investigation into allegations of undue delay by the Department of Local 
Government and Tradition Affairs, Kwazulu Natal Province to submit pension withdrawal documents to the Government 
Employee Pension Fund within reasonable time. Attorneys, representing the complainant, informed the Public Protector 
that following the death of her husband, an employee of the Department unduly delayed in processing and submitting 
his pension withdrawal documents to Government Employee Pension Fund and was therefore liable for payment of 
interest.

FINDINGS
The Public Protector found that:
• The Department delayed in submitting the pension withdrawal documents to GEPF; and
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• The Department’s failure to submit the deceased’s documents to GEPF timeously caused the delay to process 
payment of the pension benefits.

RECOMMENDATION
The Public Protector recommended to the Department to consider an ex-gratia payment to the complainant.

6.5.6 LIMPOPO: DEPARTMENT OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING

APPLICATION FOR AN RDP HOUSING SUBSIDY
Report No 16 of 2006/07
 
The Public Protector investigated a complaint by attorneys, acting on behalf of the complainant, in connection with her 
application for a Reconstruction and Development Programme (RDP) housing subsidy.

The complainant applied for a housing subsidy in 1997.  The application was approved by the Department of Local 
Government and Housing on the 18th July 2000 at an amount of R15 000.  This amount was transferred into the account 
of another firm of attorneys who were to deal with arrangements regarding the building of the house. During September 
2000, complainant was informed by the latter attorneys that the Department had approved her application for a housing 
subsidy and an amount of R15 000 had been transferred into their account, for the building of her house.  They advised 
her to contact them in order to discuss the arrangements regarding the building of the house. 

Complainant informed these attorneys that she had already built a house, after her employer borrowed her some mon-
ey.  She further indicated that she was given a verbal go-ahead by officials in the Department to utilise her own funds in 
building the house and that she would be refunded upon approval of her application. 

The Department failed or refused to refund complainant or her employer as allegedly agreed.

FINDINGS
The Office of the Public Protector investigated the matter and made the following findings:

• That complainant’s house was built before her application for a housing subsidy was approved.
• That the relevant conveyancers returned the amount of R15 000 to the Department, after they were informed that 

complainant’s house was already built.
• That no agreement, verbal or written, between the complainant and the Department that her employer could lend 

her money that would later be reimbursed by the Department could be established.
• That it was not the policy of the Department to allow recipients of grants to utilise their own money and later refund 

them.
• That the Department declined to refund complainant or her employer, and instead offered to reinstate her grant at 

the amount of R32 000 and built her a house.  The offer was rejected by her employer’s attorneys.
• That in the absence of a valid agreement, the offer by the Department is the most reasonable solution to the prob-

lem.

6.5.7 LIMPOPO PROVINCE:  PREMIER’S OFFICE

ALLEGATIONS OF IRREGULAR APPOINTMENTS 
Report No 11 of 2006/07

The Public Protector investigated an anonymous complaint relating to the appointments of Deputy Managers, Manag-
ers, Senior Managers and General Managers in the Premier’s Office, Limpopo Province during January 2004. It was 
alleged that eleven posts were advertised at the Premier’s Office, but it was only a formality because some individuals 
were already earmarked for the said positions.  A list of posts as well as the names of the allegedly earmarked individu-
als was provided to the Office of the Public Protector.  

Seven of the eleven posts were filled, and the allegedly earmarked individuals were appointed as predicted by the 
complainant.
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 FINDINGS 
The Office of the Public Protector investigated the matter and made the following findings:

• The Premier’s Office did not abide by the advertised requirements when making some of the appointments for the 
above-mentioned advertised posts.

• Failure to adhere to the advertised requirements for the posts prejudiced other candidates who met all requirements 
in terms of the advertisement; and those who did not apply for the post under the impression that they did not qualify 
as per the advertisement, as they were not informed of alternative competencies that would be taken into considera-
tion, which did not appear in the advertisement.

• The Premier’s Office failed to implement recommendations by its own Risk Management section when appointing 
incumbents for the advertised posts.

• The failure by the Premier’s Office to follow the right process and procedure relating to appointments and ignoring 
the advice of its own Risk Management Unit created the impression that there was nepotism and favouritism in the 
Department, and that public funds were wasted by advertising for posts already earmarked for certain individuals.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Consequent to the above findings, the Office of the Public Protector made the following recommendations:
• That the Office of the Premier adheres to the requirements set out in the advertisements when short-listing and ap-

pointing candidates.

• That in order to properly regulate the recruitment process, and to operate in a manner that is considered fair and 
transparent, the Office of the Premier implements the recommendations made by its Risk Management component 
as appears in this report. 

6.5.8 NORTHERN CAPE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES

ALLEGED UNFAIR AND IMPROPER DEDUCTIONS FROM A SOCIAL GRANT
Report No 9 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint regarding alleged unfair and improper deductions from a 
social grant by the Calvinia Regional Office of the Department of Social Services and Population Development: Northern 
Cape. The complainant alleged that, after her disability grant lapsed in June 2004, she subsequently re-applied. Follow-
ing this she received a letter that her application was approved and that an amount of R2960-00 was due to her. After 
she received the said amount at a Cash Paymaster System (CPS) pay-point, an official of the Department informed her 
that she had been overpaid in the amount of R250-00. She was requested to sign a form to indicate her consent to the 
payment of the debt.  When she subsequently approached the Department to enquire about the alleged debt, she was 
informed that the money recovered from her might be refunded, which did not materialise.

FINDINGS
The investigation found the following:

• In relation to the issue of authority to recover the overpayments, section 17(2) of the Social Assistance Act, 2004 pro-
vides that the South African Social Security Agency (SASSA) must recover the amounts to which a person was not 
entitled.  However, in terms of this provision, such recovery must be in accordance with the Public Finance Manage-
ment Act, 1999 (PFMA), which affords the Accounting Officer of a Department the power to collect any money due. 
This power may be delegated in writing to an official in such Department. This issue was raised with the Programme 
Manager of the Department in Calvinia, who merely responded that he acted in terms of section 17(1) of the Social 
Assistance Act. It is however noteworthy that these provisions were not applicable at the time of the recovery 

  as the Social Assistance Act, 2004 commenced in April 2006. The recovery seems rather to have been conducted in 
terms of 9(3) of the Social Assistance Act, 1992, which provides that the Director-General may in his/her discretion 

 recover such amount from such person by way of legal proceedings or in such other manner as s/he 
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may deem expedient. In this regard section 33 of the Constitution read in conjunction with section 3(1), (2) (a) and 
(2) (b) of the Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, 2000 requires an administrator to promote administrative ac-
tion that is procedurally fair. This entails that an administrator must adequately inform affected beneficiaries about 
the nature and purpose of the intended administrative action and afford them an opportunity to make representa-
tions. The investigation revealed that such steps had not been taken and that these requirements were not met.

• The decision to recover overpayments only applied to beneficiaries who receive their grant payments from the 
contracted CPS and not to beneficiaries of other payment methods such as the Post Office or Banking institutions. 
The Department failed to implement the recovery procedure effectively as the recovery was only effected in Febru-
ary 2005 and there were no subsequent recoveries. This indicated that the recovery procedure was not properly 
formulated to effectively recover the total amounts owed to the Department. In this regard it appears that these 
actions contravene the provisions of section 9(3) of the Constitution, which promotes equal treatment as well as 
section 195(1) of the Constitution, in terms of which public administration must be governed by the principle that 
services must be provided impartially, fairly, equitably and without bias.  The recovery procedure was found to be 
improper and resulted in prejudice to the beneficiaries concerned.

• The payments made by the complainant and others were deposited into the bank account of the Department.

• It is deducible from the manner in which the process of the recovery was conducted that there was no organised 
internal control system in that there was no accompanying report on the manner in which the money from the 
social security section to the finance section was obtained and further that the office of the HOD was not aware 
about the effected recovery carried out by the Calvinia office. This finding is substantiated by the observation that 
the Calvinia office failed to utilise the functions (4030 and 4031) as incorporated in the Socpen system for captur-
ing and verifying deductions from a social grant.

• Consequent to the observation of the Batho Pele Principles, it was found that, despite having received the com-
plaint from the beneficiary, the Department failed to afford a full explanation and an effective remedy to the com-
plainant.

RECOMMENDATIONS
It was recommended that:
• Since the recovery process was improper and resulted in prejudice, the Department should take steps to ensure 

equal treatment of all affected beneficiaries. 

• Where overpayments have occurred, the Department / SASSA should ensure compliance with applicable legisla-
tion and implement a procedure manual in this regard to enable uniform procedures as soon as possible. These 
agencies should, in addition to a procedure manual, consider formulating a policy that will adequately deal with, 
amongst others, the overpayment recovery process.

• The Department / SASSA cease to effect any overpayment recoveries on social grants at the pay-points, but 
rather, after having complied with internal procedures, utilise the electronic mechanisms such as the SOCPEN 
system created to carry out such functions.  This will in turn ensure that all future deductions from social grants are 
not only limited to those who receive their grants through the CPS pay-points and are accordingly reflected on the 
SOCPEN system.  

 
• The system administrators be provided with adequate training on the available functions and the usage of the 

SOCPEN system pertaining to the overpayment recovery processes.

• The Department / SASSA ensure that measures of informing the overpaid beneficiaries about the overpayment 
and the intended recovery are adequately and timeously applied. The Department should consider encouraging 
negotiations with such beneficiaries on repayment terms.

• The HOD clearly communicate the working arrangement reached between the OPP and the Department to the 
Calvinia regional office in view of the current lack of cooperation in relation to simple matters.

The above-mentioned recommendations were implemented.
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  6.6  Local Government

6.6.1 MUNICIPALITY:  EMAKHAZENI

COMPLIANCE WITH TOWN PLANNING SCHEME
Report No 63 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated a complaint against the Emakhazeni Local Municipality who allegedly 
failed to take steps against a Non Governmental Organisation, Epilepsy South Africa (ESA) for not complying with the 
provisions of the Dullstroom Town Planning Scheme, 1992.

According to the complainant, ESA allowed a business to operate a woodwork workshop from its premises, which was 
causing a disturbance.  From the Municipality’s response to the complainant, it appeared that the Municipality was in-
formed that the operations of the workshop formed part of the rehabilitation of ESA residents and that it was therefore 
not conducted in breach of the Town Planning Scheme.

The complainant contested the information submitted to the Municipality.  A site inspection by the Department of Labour 
and the Office of the Public Protector revealed that the workshop formed part of a private enterprise that employed a 
limited number of ESA’s patients on a full time basis.  No indication of rehabilitation or that the activities of the workshop 
supplement the operations of ESA could be found.  The Department of Labour identified a number of violations of labour 
legislation at the workshop.

FINDINGS
The Public Protector found that the response of the Municipality to the complaint of non-compliance by ESA with the 
Town Planning Scheme was not supported by the factual position at the workshop concerned.

RECOMMENDATION
It was recommended that:

• The Municipality urgently conduct a proper investigation, in terms of the Ordinance and the Town Planning Scheme, 
into the allegations that ESA was using the land occupied by it or causing it to be used for a purpose that was in 
conflict with the Town Planning Scheme and take the appropriate steps to address any violations found;

• The Department of Labour take urgent steps to ensure that the activities at the workshop comply with the applicable 
labour legislation and prescripts.

6.6.2 MUNICIPALITY:  TSANTSABANE AND MIER

REPORT ON AN INVESTIGATION INTO ALLEGATIONS OF THE MISAPPROPRIATION OF PUBLIC FUNDS BY 
THE TSANTSABANE AND MIER MUNICIPALITIES IN THE NORTHERN CAPE PROVINCE
Report no 65 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector investigated allegations of the misappropriation of public funds by the Tsantsabane 
and Mier Municipalities that related to donations made to the African National Congress (ANC).

From the investigation it appeared that the Municipalities made payments of R20 000 and R10 000 respectively into the 
bank account of the ANC on 13 January 2006. The payments were made in response to an invitation issued by the ANC 
to its members to attend a fundraising banquet on 13 January 2006. The ANC did not accept the donations as it was 
made by municipalities, and the said amounts were returned to the Municipalities on 19 January 2006.

FINDINGS
The Public Protector found that:
• The payments of R20 000 and R10 000 made to the ANC by the Tsantsabane and Mier Municipalities respectively, 

amounted to fruitless and wasteful expenditure;
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• By authorising the said payments, the Chief Financial Officers of the Municipalities committed acts of financial 
misconduct and breached the Code of Conduct for Municipal Staff Members;

• The Mayors of the Municipalities breached the Code of Conduct for Councillors and acted in a manner inconsistent 
with the Municipal Finance Management Act when they requested authorisation of the payments to the ANC;

• The payment of funds of the Municipalities concerned to a political party was inconsistent with the provisions of the 
Constitution relating to the objects of local government, the principles and values governing public administration 
and the diligent performance of constitutional obligations. It was therefore unlawful and invalid.

RECOMMENDATION
It was recommended that:

• The Municipal Councils of the Tsantsabane and Mier Municipalities respectively  appoint a special committee in 
terms of item 14 of the Code of Conduct for  Councillors to:

• Investigate and make findings on the breach of the Code by the Mayors of the Municipalities referred to in this 
report; and

• Make appropriate recommendations to the respective Councils.
• Attend to the financial misconduct of the Chief Financial Officers referred to in this report, in terms of the section 

171(4) of the Municipal Finance Management Act, and consider whether disciplinary proceedings should be insti-
tuted against them;

• Deal with the breach of the Code of Conduct for Municipal Staff Members by the Chief Financial Officers, referred 
to in this report, in terms of section 67(1)(h) of the Municipal Systems Act; and

• The Municipal Managers of the Tsantsabane and Mier Municipalities take urgent steps to ensure that the Account-
ing Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, all senior managers and every official exercising financial management re-
sponsibilities, of the respective Municipalities, are properly trained, advised and provided with guidance in respect 
of the interpretation and implementation of the provisions of the Municipal Finance Management Act.

6.6.3 MUNICIPALITY:  LEKWA-TEEMANE

INVESTIGATION INTO AN ALLEGATION OF THE POLLUTION OF THE VAAL RIVER BY THE LEKWA-TEEMANE 
LOCAL MUNICIPALITY IN THE NORTH WEST PROVINCE

Report No 4 of 2007/2008 

The Office of the Public Protector investigated an allegation made in a newspaper article in September 2006, suggest-
ing that the drinking water of the residents of Christiana in the North West Province was polluted by the pumping of 
sewerage overflow into the Vaal River by the Lekwa-Teemane Local Municipality. 

The investigation was conducted at the own initiative of the Public Protector and in terms of the provisions of the Public 
Protector Act, 1994.

FINDINGS
It was found that:

• Water for consumption by the residents of Christiana is extracted from the Vaal River approximately 5 kilometres 
upstream from where the sewerage works are situated;

• The suggestion that the drinking water of the residents of Christiana is polluted by a sewerage overflow pumped 
into the river by the Municipality, is unfounded;
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• The inadequacy of the current sewerage works to cope with the demand and the associated risk of pollution of the 
Vaal River are being properly addressed by the construction of the new sewerage works which will be completed in 
early 2008; and 

• The implementation of temporary oxidation ponds as part of the construction of the new works would alleviate the 
current pressures on the sewerage system and significantly reduce the risk of pollution.

6.7  Other Organs Of State

6.7.1 SOUTH AFRICAN HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION

INVESTIGATION PROCEDURES
Report No 34 of 2006/07

The Office of the Public Protector conducted an investigation into allegations that the S A Human Rights Commission 
(HRC) failed to properly investigate a complaint received from two complainants.

FINDINGS
Having considered the information obtained during the investigation the following key findings were made:

• If regard be had to the provision of article 6(b) of the Regulations to the Human Rights Commission Act, 1994, 
whereby the Head of the Legal Department or staff member shall determine the procedure to be adopted by the 
Commission in dealing with the complaint, the opinion was held that the HRC acted within their powers by deciding 
not to issue a subpoena to obtain additional information from a Journal.

• The Head of the Legal Department acted in accordance with the Regulations when he submitted a Memorandum 
containing the findings of the investigation to the Chairperson and the complainants.

• The above-mentioned powers of the HRC to determine the procedure to be followed in dealing with the complaint, as 
well as the investigation process should have been explained to the complainants at the time, to prevent any confu-
sion as regards what constituted a determination on the matter, and the subsequent opportunity to appeal against 
that decision.

• The complainants were prejudiced as a result of the delay in bringing forth the determination (Memorandum) by the 
Head of the Legal Department and since they clearly outlined their problems with the Legal Department in their letter 
dated 17 April 2002, no need existed for them to lodge another “appeal” against the Head of the Legal Department’s 
determination.

• The Chairperson was in a position to make a determination on the matter based on the contents of the complainants’ 
letter dated 17 April 2002 and the outcome of the appeal would determine whether the provisions of the Access to In-
formation Act, 2000 needed to be utilised by the complainants to obtain any additional information that they require.

RECOMMENDATION
The Public Protector recommended that the HRC should:

• Ensure that their powers to conduct an investigation as well as the investigation process to be followed were ex-
plained timeously to complainants to prevent a recurrence of the circumstances referred to in this report; and

• Regard the correspondence received from the complainants as their appeal in terms of article 12(a) of the Regula-
tions to the Human Rights Commission Act, 1994.
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7.1  Social grants investigations, Eastern Cape
In order to address the identified delays in accessing and processing the applications for social welfare grants in the 
Eastern Cape, an investigation was undertaken and completed during 2006/07. The report on the investigation will be 
issued during the 2007/08 financial year.

7.2  RDP housing investigation, Kouga Municipality
A project plan was approved during the 2006/07 financial year to conduct a systemic investigation regarding the delays 
in provisioning of low cost RDP housing by the Kouga Municipality in the Eastern Cape. The investigation has been 
finalised and a draft report was submitted for comment to the Special Investigation Unit of the National Department of 
Housing. After these comments have been received, a final report will be issued during the 2007/08 financial year.

7.3  Investigation into service delivery – provision of identity document and access   
          to a social grant

The Office of the Public Protector initiated an investigation, following a newspaper article published on 5 February 
2007. The plight of a person in the Northern Cape who suffered from tuberculosis, was highlighted. This person could 
not access a social grant because he did not have an identity document. Pursuant to the Office’s intervention, the said 
individual received his identity document on 6 March 2007. His disability grant application was also processed and the 
first payment was effected from April 2007 (prior to this social relief in the form of food parcels was provided to him).

7.4  South African Police Service - Firearms Licensing
Report No 10 of 2006/7

This report deals with an investigation conducted by the Office of the Public Protector into the implementation of the 
Firearms Control Act, 2000 (Act 60 of 2000). The Firearms Control Act, and the Firearms Control Regulations and 
amendments, had caused much discontent amongst legal gun owners. It was decided to conduct an investigation on 
own initiative, on the implementation of the Act, in terms of the provisions of section 7(1) (a) of the Public Protector Act, 
1994.

The office of the Public Protector received numerous complaints from applicants dissatisfied with the process to obtain 
firearm licences and the alleged undue delay in the issuing of the licences. The bulk of complaints were about the undue 
delay in the finalisation of the appeals submitted to the Appeal Board. Some of the complaints related to applicants who 
were dissatisfied with advice received from the SA Police Service on the procedure to obtain a firearm licence.

The investigation comprised:

♦ An evaluation of information obtained from complaints received.
♦ Consideration of a number of media articles on the subject.
♦ An evaluation of information obtained from the Central Firearm Register.
♦  An evaluation of the legislation pertaining to firearms licences.
♦ Consideration of the legislative framework pertaining to service delivery in the public service.
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FINDINGS
The following conclusions were drawn from the investigation:

♦ The purposes of the Firearms Control Act, 2000 were to make ownership of firearms more responsible and to make 
the process of owning a firearm clear to the user and the police. Responsibility of firearm owners was spelt out 
clearly. The Act aimed to make the use and storage of firearms safe. 

♦  The success of the Act did rely on how it was implemented and applied. It was important that the process was con-
tinually monitored and, where hitches were identified, corrected either through the amendment of the Act or training 
of the officers who implemented the Act.

♦ Sometimes the public service was slow to adapt to unanticipated issues, did not communicate effectively with the 
public or failed to recognise the administrative burden that government requirements could impose on people.

♦    Public service should try to reduce or eliminate administrative burdens when planning
 and delivering services. 

♦    All state institutions and servants, including the SA Police Service were constitutionally obliged to perform in an ef-
fective and efficient manner. All state institutions and servants were obliged to properly implement and adhere to the 
principles contained in the Batho Pele White Paper.

♦  Legislation and policies that prescribe and regulate service delivery in the public administration were adequate. 
Proper implementation and constant control over adherence to the legislation and policies should address problems 
of undue delays.

♦  In order to give practical effect to the relevant legislation and policies relating to service delivery, all public servants 
were required to comply with the Batho Pele Principles and the Code of Conduct for Public Servants.

♦    Service standards defined minimum levels of delivery that should be achieved. 

♦  The Central Firearms Register had taken measures and continually addressed problem areas to prevent undue de-
lays. 

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Public Protector recommended that:

♦ An effective complaint handling mechanism should be introduced at the Central Firearms Register to identify problem 
areas immediately. This would enable the public to seek assistance at an early stage of the application process. An 
internal complaints process was an informal and flexible process and would also provide an early opportunity for the 
Central Firearm Register to learn of problems that were arising in the administration process.

♦ The Central Firearms Register should publish service standards in respect of timeframes to issue competency certifi-
cates and firearm licenses. This would foster good public administration that was acceptable, lawful, fair, transparent 
and responsive.

♦ The Central Firearms Register should ensure that measures and monitoring processes were introduced to address 
the causes of problems and to prevent a recurrence where problems existed. Good practices would then be identi-
fied.

♦ The Central Firearms Register should ensure proper compliance by employees with the provisions of the Batho Pele 
Principles and the Code of Conduct for Public Servants. 

♦ Training of the personnel at the Central Firearms Registry should be continuous. Specific training on the purpose and 
aim of the Promotion of Administrative Justice Act (PAJA) and its application should be implemented.
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♦ The Central Firearm Register should ensure that services were delivered justly in terms of the PAJA. Reasons for 
decisions should be properly communicated. Services should be provided impartially, fairly, equitably and without 
bias. The PAJA ensured procedurally fair administrative actions, gave the right to request reasons for actions and 
the right to have actions reviewed by a court. Procedures followed should be clearly stated and affected people 
given notice of their rights to review or appeal decisions. The public had the right to be informed of reasons for 
decisions.

♦ A comprehensive communication campaign by the Central Firearms Register on the requirements to obtain a 
firearm license should be launched to inform the public. It should be remembered that a person’s entitlement to a 
firearm license depended on whether he/she could satisfy the eligibility criteria set out in the legislation. 
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9.1 Service Delivery

Table 9.1.1  – Main services provided and standards

Main services Actual customers Potential 
customers Standard of service Actual achievement 

against standards 

Outreach Initiatives  General public, 
government 
departments and 
institutions, NGO’s  

General public, 
government 
departments 
and institutions, 
NGO’s 

Three visiting points per 
province. Identification 
of systemic 
investigations  

 Achieved. (see 
part 3 of the report) 

 

Effective and efficient 
investigations 

Public in rural 
areas, government 
departments and 
institutions, NGO’s 

Public in rural 
areas, 
government 
departments 
and institutions, 
NGO’s 

Identification of root 
cause investigations, 
reports (general and 
parliamentary) on 
investigations 
completed.  

Achieved. (see part 3 
of the report) 

Improve administrative 
support 

OPP-internal clients  OPP-internal 
clients and 
outside job 
applicants 

Appointment of staff, 
training and support  

Appointment of staff, 
training and support 
achieved.   

 
Table 9.1.2 – Consultation arrangements with customers

Type of arrangement Actual Customers Potential Customers Actual 
achievements 

Staff Meetings Internal Staff  None  Twice per annum 

 
Table 9.1.3 – Service delivery access strategy

Access Strategy Actual achievements 

Awareness campaign and community clinics  73 clinics organised for the year  

Appointment of outreach facilitators (to assist with campaign)   
 
Table 9.1.4 – Service information tool

Types of information tool Actual achievements 
1. Radio, brochures, newspapers, press briefings  2 press briefings for the year. 

Brochures printed 
Radio interviews held 

Community meetings and workshops  167 information sessions conducted 
Workshops and meetings with government departments, 
institutions and NGO  

Workshop with Chapter 9 institutions and the EU 
held. 

 
Table 9.1.5 – Complaints mechanism

Complaints Mechanism 
 
Actual achievements 

Lodge complaints via correspondence/ telephone  See Report 
Own initiative investigations See Report 
Identification of root cause and systemic investigations See Report 
Clinics and visiting points  See Report 
Receiving complaints at workshops and meetings  See Report 
Visibility at functions (e.g. Rand Easter Show) Conducted an exhibition at the Rand Show, 

Pretoria Show and Public Service Trainers 
Forum conference  
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9.2  Expenditure
Table 9.2.1 – Personnel costs by programme, 2006/07

Programme 
Total 

Expenditure 
(R’000) 

Personnel 
Expenditure 

(R’000) 

Training 
Expenditur

e 
(R’000) 

Professional 
and Special 

Services 
(R’000) 

Personnel 
cost as a 

percent of 
total 

expenditure
 

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee  

OPP 61 170 42 863 449 2 251 70.1% 209 087.81 
Total 61 170 42 863 449 2 251 70.1% 209 087.81 

 

 
Table 9.2.2 – Personnel costs by salary bands, 2006/07

Salary bands Personnel 
Expenditure (R’000) 

% of total 
personnel cost 

Average personnel 
cost per employee  

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 69 0.2% 69 261 
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 4 016  9.4% 65 827.98 
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 8 612  20.1% 111 845.05 
Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12)  16 376  38.2% 363 911.35 

Senior management (Levels 13-16)  13 790 32.2% 656 673.90 
    
Total 42 863 100% 209 087.80 

 

Table 9.2.3 – Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by programme, 2006/07

Programme Salaries Overtime Home Owners 
Allowance Medical Assistance 

 Amount 
(R’000) 

Salaries 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost 

Amount 
(R’000) 

Overtime 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost 

Amount 
(R’000) 

HOA as a 
% of 

personnel 
cost 

Amount 
(R’000) 

Medical 
Assistance 
as a % of 
personnel 

cost 
OPP 40 976 95.6% 233 0.6% 479 1.1% 1 175 2.7% 
Total 40 976 95.6% 233 0.6% 479 1.1% 1 175 2.7% 

 

Table 9.2.4 – Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Assistance by salary bands, 2006/07

Salary Bands Salaries        Overtime Home Owners 
Allowance Medical Assistance Personnel 

expenditure  
  

Amount  
(R’000) 

Salaries as 
a % of 

personnel 
cost 

Amount 
(R’000) 

Overtime
 as a 
% of 

person
nel cost 

Amount 
(R’000)  

HOA as 
a % of 
person
nel cost 

Amount  

Medical 
Assistance

 as a % 
of 

personnel 
cost 

Amount  
(R’000) 

Lower skilled 
(Levels 1-2) 

69 0.2% 
 

0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 69 

Skilled (Levels 
3-5) 

3 645  8.5% 39 0.1% 35 0.1% 296 0.7% 4 016 

Highly skilled 
production 
(Levels 6-8) 

8 160 19% 0 0% 50 0.1% 402 0.9% 8 612 

Highly skilled 
supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 

15 520 36.2% 195 0.5% 186 0.4% 476 1.1% 16 376 

Senior 

management 

(Levels 13 -16) 

13 582 31.7% 0 0% 208  0.5% 0 0% 13 790 

Total
 

40 976 95.6% 233 0.6% 479 1.1% 1 175 2.7% 42 863 
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9.3 Employment and vacancies
Table 9.3.1 – Employment and vacancies by programme, 31 March 2007

 Number of 
posts 

Number of 
posts filled Vacancy Rate 

Number of posts filled 
additional to the 
establishment 

 238 205 13.9% 6 
 238 205 13.9% 6 

 

Programme

OPP
Total

Table 9.3.2 – Employment and vacancies by salary bands, 31 March 2007

 Number of 
posts 

Number of 
posts filled Vacancy Rate 

Number of posts filled 
additional to the 
establishment 

 1 1 0% N/A 
 1 0 100%  

 2 1 50% N/A 
 

Critical occupations

CFO
Senior Manager IT
Total

Table 9.3.3 – Employment and vacancies by critical occupation, 31 March 2007

 Number of 
posts 

Number of 
posts filled Vacancy Rate 

Number of posts filled 
additional to the 
establishment 

 1 1 0% N/A 
 1 0 100%  

 2 1 50% N/A 
 

Critical occupations

CFO
Senior Manager IT
Total

9.4 Job evalutation
Table 9.4.1 – Job Evaluation, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Posts Upgraded Posts downgraded 
Salary band 

Number 
of 

posts 

Number of 
Jobs 

Evaluated 

% of posts 
evaluated 
by salary 

bands 
Number % of  posts 

evaluated Number % of  posts 
evaluated 

 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
production 

 
 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

supervision 
 
 

60 1 1.7% 1 100% 0 0 

 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total  60 1 1.7% 1 100% 0 0 
 

Lower  skilled (Levels 1-2)

Skilled (Levels 3-5)
Highly skilled 
(Levels 6-8)

Highly skilled 
(Levels 9-12)

Senior Management 
Service Band A
 Senior Management 
Service Band B
Senior Management 
Service Band C
Senior Management 
Service Band D



Table 9.4.2 – Profile of employees whose salary positions were upgraded due to their posts being upgraded, 1 
April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Beneficiaries African Asian Coloured White Total 
Female 0 0 0 0 0 
Male 1 0 0 0 1 
Total 1 0 0 0 1 

  
 
Table 9.4.3 – Profile of employees whose salary level exceed the grade determined by job evaluation, 1 April 
2006 to 31 March 2007 (in terms of PSR 1.V.C.3)

Occupation Number of 
employees 

Job evaluation 
level 

Remuneration 
level 

Reason for 
deviation 

 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Total Number of Employees whose salaries exceeded the level determined by job evaluation in 2006/07  
Percentage of total employment  

 
Table 9.4.4 – Profile of employees whose salary level exceed the grade determined by job evaluation, 1 April 
2006 to 31 March 2007 (in terms of PSR 1.V.C.3)

Total Number of Employees whose salaries exceeded the grades determined by 
job evaluation in 2006/ 07  

None 

Employees with a disability None 
 

9.5  Employment changes
Table 9.5.1 – Annual turnover rates by salary band for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Salary Band 

Number of 
employees 
per band as 
on 1 April 

2006 

Appointments 
and transfers 

into the 
department 

Terminations 
and transfers 

out of the 
department 

Turnover 
rate 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 1 0 1 100.0% 
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 61 16 12 19.7% 
Highly skilled production(Levels 6-8) 77 28 16 20.8% 
Highly skilled supervision(Levels 9-12) 45  1 3 6.7% 

Senior Management Service Band A  10 2 2 20% 
Senior Management Service Band B  5  1 20.% 
Senior Management Service Band C 5 1 0 0% 
Senior Management Service Band D 1 0 0 0% 
Total 205 48 35 17.1% 

 

0

Table 9.5.2 – Annual turnover rates by critical occupation for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Occupation: 
Number of 

employees per 
occupation as 
on 1 April 2006 

Appointments and 
transfers into the 

department 

Terminations 
and transfers out 

of the 
department 

Turnover 
rate 

 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Total N/A N/A N/A N/A 
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Table 9.5.3 – Reasons why staff are leaving the department

Termination Type  Number  % of total  
Death 2 5.7% 
Resignation 31 88.6% 
Expiry of contract 2 5.7% 
Dismissal – operational changes 0 0% 
Dismissal – misconduct 0 0% 
Dismissal – inefficiency  0 0% 
Discharged due to ill-health 0 0% 

Retirement 0 0% 
Transfers to other Public Service Departments  0 0% 
Other 0 0% 
Total 35 100% 
Total number of employees who left as a % of the total employment  

 
Table 9.5.4 – Promotions by critical occupation

Occupation 
Employees as 

at 1 April 
2006 

Promotions 
to another 
salary level 

Salary level 
promotions 

as a % of 
employees by 

occupation 

Progressions 
to another 

notch within a 
salary level  

 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Total N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

Notch 
progressions 

as a % of 
employees by 

occupation

Table 9.5.5 – Promotions by salary band

Salary Band Employees 
1 April 2006 

Promotions 
to another 
salary level 

Salary bands 
promotions 

as a % of 
employees by 

salary level 

Progressions 
to another 

notch within 
a salary level  

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 1 0 0% 1 0.9% 
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 61 1 1.6% 35 32.7% 

 
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 

77 1 1.3% 34 31.8% 

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels9-12) 

45 4 8.9% 37 34.6% 

Senior management 
(Levels13-16) 

21 4 19% 0 0% 

Total 205 10 4.9% 107 100% 
 

Notch 
progressions 

as a % of 
employees by 
salary band

9.6 Employment equity

Table 9.6.1 – Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following occupa-
tional categories as on 31 March 2007

Male Female Total Occupational categories 
(SASCO) African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White  
Legislators, senior officials 
and managers 

8  1 5 5   2 21 

Professionals 17 1 2 1 6 1 1 3 32 
Technicians and associate 
professionals 

44 2 1 1 20 1 4 1 74 

Clerks  6    44 7 3 6 66 
Service and sales workers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers 

 0  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Craft and related trades 
workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Plant and machine operators 
and assemblers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Elementary occupations 8 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 12 
Total 83 3 4 7 79 9 8 12 205 
Employees with 
disabilities  

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 

 

0

0 0 0

0 0



Table 9.6.2 – Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following oc-
cupational bands as on 31 March 2007

Male Female  Occupational Bands 
African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total 

 Top Management 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 6 
Senior Management 6 0 1 3 3 0 0 2 15 
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and 
mid-management 

17 1 2 1 6 1 1 3 32 

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior 
management, supervisors, 
foreman and 
superintendents 

44 2 1 1 20 1 4 1 74 

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision 
making 

6 0 0 0 44 7 3 6 66 

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 

8 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 12 

Total 83 3 4 7 79 9 8 12 205 
 
Table 9.6.3 – Recruitment for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Male Female  Occupational Bands 
African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total 

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Senior Management 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 
Professionally qualified 
and experienced 
specialists and mid-
management 

0  0  0 0 0 0 1 0 1 

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, foreman 
and superintendents 

17 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 26 

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision 
making 

2 0 0 0 11 0 1 0 14 

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 

3 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 4 

Total 24 0 1 0 21 0 2 0 48 
 Employees with 

disabilities
0 0  0 0  0  00 0 0

Table 9.6.4 – Promotions for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007
Male Female  Occupational Bands 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total 
Top Management 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 
Senior Management 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 
Professionally qualified 
and experienced 
specialists and mid-
management 

2 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 4 

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, foreman 
and superintendents 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision 
making 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 6 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 10 
Employees with 
disabilities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Table 9.6.5 – Terminations for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Male Female  Occupational Bands 
African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total 

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Senior Management 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 3 
Professionally qualified 
and experienced 
specialists and mid-
management 

0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 3 

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, foreman 
and superintendents 

8 1 0 1 6 0 0 0 16 

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision 
making 

1 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 11 

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 

1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 

Total 10 1 1 1 21 0 0 1 35 
Employees with 
disabilities 

0 0  0  0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Table 9.6.6 – Disciplinary action for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Male Female   
African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total 

Disciplinary 
action 

2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 4 

 

Table 9.6.7 – Skills development for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Male Female  
Occupational 

categories African
 Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Total

 

Legislators, senior 
officials and managers 

8 0 1 5 5 0 0 2 21 

Professionals 17 1 2 1 6 1 1 3 32 
Technicians and 
associate professionals 

44 2 1 1 20 1 4 1 74 

Clerks  6 0 0 0 44 7 3 6 66 
Service and sales 
workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Craft and related 
trades workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Plant and machine 
operators and 
assemblers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Elementary 
occupations 

8 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 12 

Total 83 3 4 7 79 9 8 12 205 
Employees with 
disabilities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 

 



 9.7  Performance rewards
Table 9.7.1 – Performance Rewards by race, gender, and disability, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

 Beneficiary Profile Cost 

 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Total number of 
employees in 

group 

% of total 
within group Cost (R’000) Average cost 

per employee 

African      
Male 50 83 60.2% 519 10 375.79 
Female 56 79 70.9% 365 6 151.36 
Asian      
Male 2 4 50% 41 20 638.50 
Female 6 8 75% 43 7 139.50 
Coloured       

Male 3 3 100% 22 7 231.67 
Female 8 9 88.9% 41 5 095.88 
White      
Male 7 7 100% 139 19 910.57 
Female 12 12 100% 125 10 448.00 

Employees with a 
disability

 2
 

2
 

100%
 

15
 

7 660.50
 Total

 

146

 

205

 

71.2%

 

1, 295

 

8 869.69

 
 

Table 9.7.2 – Performance Rewards by salary bands for personnel below Senior Management Service, 1 April 
2006 to 31 March 2007

Salary Bands Beneficiary Profile Cost 
 

Number of 
beneficiaries 

Number of 
employees 

% of total 
within 
salary 
bands 

Total 
Cost 

(R’000) 

Average 
cost per 

employee 

Total cost as 
a % of the 

total 
personnel 

expenditure 
Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 1 1 100% 5 2 674.00 0.54% 
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 43 61 70.5% 134 3 123.77 13.47% 
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 

40 68 58.8% 225 5 621.00 22.54% 

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 

48 54 88.9% 633 13 184 63.54% 

Total 131 184 71.2% 997 24 603.33 100% 
 

Table 9.7.3 – Performance Rewards by critical occupations, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 

Critical Occupations Beneficiary Profile Cost 

 Number of 
beneficiaries 

Number of 
employees 

% of total 
within 

occupation 

Total Cost 
(R’000) 

Average cost 
per employee 

CFO 1      
Senior Manager: IT N/A     
      
Total 1      

 

1
N/A N/A  N/A  N/A

1 100%                    17.1                     17 064

100%                    17.1                     17 064
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Table 9.7.4 – Performance related rewards (cash bonus), by salary band, for Senior Management Service

9.8 Foreign workers
Table 9.8.1 – Foreign Workers, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007, by salary band

1 April 2006 31 March 2007 Change Salary Band 
Number % of total Number % of total Number % change 

 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

9-12)
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

16)
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2)
Skilled (Levels 3-5)
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8)

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 

 Senior management (Levels 13-

Total

Table 9.8.2 – Foreign Worker, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007, by major occupation

1 April 2006 31 March 2007 Change 
 

Number % of total Number % of total Number % 
change 

 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

      
 

Total

Major Occupation

N/A

9.9 Leave utilisation for the period 1 January 2006 to 31 December

Table 9.9.1 – Sick leave, 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006

ry Salary Band Total 
days 

Total days 
taken with 

medical 
certificate 

% days with 
medical 

certification 

Number of 
Employees 
using sick 

leave 

% of total 
employees

 using 
sick leave 

Average 
days per 
employee 

Estimated 
Cost 

(R’000) 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 19 19 100% 2 1.0% 0.1 2.8 
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 282 212 75% 54 26.3% 0.19 55.6 
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 

219 175 80% 65 31.7% 0.30 78.8 

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels9-12) 

266 207 76% 47 22.9% 0.18 328.9 

Senior management (Levels 
13-16) 

99 79 80% 15 7.3% 0.15 190.69 

Total 885 692 78% 183 89.3% 4.83 656.8 
 

 Beneficiary Profile 
Total 
Cost 

(R’000) 

Average 
cost per 

employee 

Total cost as 
a % of the 

total 
personnel 

expenditure 
 Number of 

beneficiaries 
Number of 
employees 

% of total 
within band    

 12 18 66.7% 2 105 17 538 97.1% 
 3  3 100% 64 21 320.67 2.9% 
 0 0 0% 0 0 0% 
 0 0 0% 0 0 0% 

 15 21 71.4% 2 169 38 858.67 100% 

 

Band A
Band B
Band C
Band D
Total

Salary Band



Table 9.9.2 – Disability leave (temporary and permanent), 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006

Salary Band 
Total 
days 
taken 

% days with 
medical 

certification 

Number of 
Employees 

using 
disability 

leave* 

% of total 
employees 

using 
disability 

leave 

Average 
days per 
employee 

Estimated 
Cost 

(R’000) 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 0 0% 0 0% 0 0 
Skilled (Levels 3-5) 14 73.7% 2 1.0% 7 0.5 
Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 

0 0% 0 0% 0 0 

Highly skilled supervision 
(Levels 9-12) 

5 26.3% 1 0.5% 5 1.2 

Senior management 
(Levels 13-16) 

0 0% 0 0% 0 0 

Total 19 100% 3 1.5% 6.3 1.7 
 *Actual confirmed  % of days with medical certificate can only be confirmed by 22 Aug 2007.

Table 9.9.3 – Annual Leave, 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006

Salary Bands Total days taken Average per 
employee 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 0 0 
Skilled Levels 3-5) 926 16.53 
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 682 10.49 
Highly skilled supervision(Levels 9-12) 956 20.34 
Senior management (Levels 13-16) 371 13.74 
   
Total 2 935 15.05 

 

Table 9.9.4 – Capped leave, 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2006

Salary Bands 
Total days of 
capped leave 

taken 

Average number 
of days taken per 

employee 

Average capped 
leave per 

employee as at 31 
December 2006 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 0 0 0 
Skilled Levels 3-5) 5 2.5 193 
Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 2 2 179 
Highly skilled supervision(Levels 9-12) 0 0 0 
Senior management (Levels 13-16) 9 3 155 
    
Total 16 2.6 171.8 

 

Table 9.9.5 – Leave payouts for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007
The following table summarises payments made to employees as a result of leave that was not taken.

Reason Total Amount 
(R’000) 

Number of 
Employees 

Average 
payment per 

employee 
Leave payout for 2006/07 due to non-
utilisation of leave for the previous cycle 

0 0 0 

Capped leave payouts on termination of 
service for 2006/07 

0 0 0 

Current leave payout on termination of service 
for 2006/07 

132 21 6 268.13 

Total 132 21 6 268.13 
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9.10  HIV and AIDS & health promotion programme  

Table 9.10.1 – Steps taken to reduce the risk of occupational exposure

Units/categories of employees identified to be at high risk of 
contracting HIV & related diseases (if any)  

 Key steps taken to reduce 
the risk  

None EWP 
 

Table 9.10.2 – Details of Health Promotion and HIV and AIDS Programmes (tick the applicable boxes and provide 
the required information

Question Yes No Details, if yes 
 1. Has the department designated a member of the SMS to implement the 

provisions contained in Part VI E of Chapter 1 of the Public Service Regulations, 
2001? If so, provide her/his name and position. 

  X    

 2. Does the department have a dedicated unit or has it designated specific 
staff members to promote the health and well being of your employees? If so, 
indicate the number of employees who are involved in this task and the annual 
budget that is available for this purpose.   

  X   In progress  

 3. Has the department introduced an Employee Assistance or Health 
Promotion Programme for your employees? If so, indicate the key 
elements/services of this Programme.  

 X   In progress  

 4. Has the department established (a) committee(s) as contemplated in Part 
VI E.5 (e) of Chapter 1 of the Public Service Regulations, 2001? If so, please 
provide the names of the members of the committee and the stakeholder(s) that 
they represent.   

 X    

 5. Has the department reviewed its employment policies and practices to 
ensure that these do not unfairly discriminate against employees on the basis of 
their HIV status? If so, list the employment policies/practices so reviewed.   

 X  In progress  

 6. Has the department introduced measures to protect HIV -positive 
employees or those perceived to be HIV-positive from discrimination? If so, list 
the key elements of these measures.  

  X   Employee wellness 
programme in progress 

 7. Does the department encourage its employees to undergo Voluntary 
Counselling and Testing? If so, list the results that you have achieved.  

 X   HIV Launch to take place by 
September 2007 

 8. Has the department developed measures/indicators to monitor & evaluate 
the impact of its health promotion programme? If so, list these 
measures/indicators. 

 X    

 

9.11 Labour relations  

The following collective agreements were entered into with trade unions within the department. 

Table 9.11.1 – Collective agreements, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Total collective agreements None

Table 9.11.2 – Misconduct and disciplinary hearings finalised, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Outcomes of disciplinary hearings Number % of total 
Correctional counselling 0  
Verbal warning   
Written warning 2 50% 
Final written warning 1 25% 
Suspended without pay   
Fine   
Demotion   
Dismissal 1 25% 
Not guilty   
Case withdrawn    
Total

 4
 

100%
 

 

0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
0 



Table 9.11.3 – Types of misconduct addressed at disciplinary hearings

Type of misconduct  Number % of total 
Insubordination  2 100% 
   
Total 2 100% 

 
Table 9.11.4 – Grievances lodged for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

 Number % of Total 

Number of grievances resolved 2 66.7% 

Number of grievances not resolved 1 33.3% 
Total number of grievances lodged 3 100% 

 
Table 9.11.5 – Disputes lodged with Councils for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

 Number % of Total 

Number of disputes upheld N/A N/A 

Number of disputes dismissed N/A N/A 
Total number of disputes lodged N/A N/A  

 
Table 9.11.6 – Strike actions for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Total number of person working days lost 
 

Total cost (R’000) of working days lost N/A 
Amount (R’000) recovered as a result of no work no pay N/A 

 
Table 9.11.7 – Precautionary suspensions for the period 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Number of people suspended N/A 

Number of people whose suspension exceeded 30 days N/A 
Average number of days suspended N/A 
Cost (R’000) of suspensions  N/A  
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9.12 Skills development  

This section highlights the efforts of the department with regard to skills development.

9.12.1 – Training needs identified 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Training needs identified at start of reporting period 

Occupational 
Categories Gender 

Number of 
employees 
as at 1 April 

2006 Learnerships 
Skills 

Programmes & 
other short 

courses 

Other 
forms of 
training 

Total 

Female 7 0 6 0 6 Legislators, senior 
officials and managers Male 14 0 13 0 13 

Female 11 0 11 0 11 Professionals 
Male 21 0 21 0 21 
Female 26 0 26 0 26 Technicians and 

associate professionals Male 48 0 48 0 48 
Female 60 0 60 0 60 Clerks  
Male 6 0 6 0 6 
Female N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Service and sales 

workers Male N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Female N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Skilled agriculture and 

fishery workers Male N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Female N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Craft and related 

trades workers Male N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Female N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A Plant and machine 

operators and 
assemblers 

Male N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Female 4 0 4 0 4 Elementary 
occupations Male 8 0 8 0 8 

Female 108 0 107 0 107 Sub Total 
Male 97 0 96 0 96 

Total  205 0 203 0 203 

 

9.12.2 – Training provided 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Training provided within the reporting period 
Occupational 
Categories 

 Ge nder
 

Number of 
employees 
as at 1 April 

2006 
Learnerships 

Skills 
Programmes & 

other short 
courses 

Other 
forms of 
training 

Total 

Female 7 0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

 

6  6 Legislators, senior 
officials and managers Male 14  6  6 

Female 11  7  7 Professionals 
Male 21  9  9 
Female 26  26 2 28 Technicians and 

associate professionals Male 48  47  47 
Female 60  45 8 53 Clerks  
Male 6  3 1 4 
Female N/A     Service and sales 

workers Male N/A     
Female N/A     Skilled agriculture and 

fishery workers Male N/A     
Female N/A     Craft and related trades 

workers Male N/A     
Female N/A     Plant and machine 

operators and 
assemblers 

Male N/A     

Female 4  1  1 Elementary 
occupations Male 8  7  7 

Female 108  85 10 95 Sub Total 
Male 97  72 1 73 

Total 
 

205  157 11 168 

 

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

 

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0

 

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

 

0
0
0
0

0

0



 9.13  Injury on duty
The following tables provide basic information on injury on duty.

Table 9.13.1 – Injury on duty, 1 April 2006 to 31 March 2007

Nature of injury on duty Number % of total 
Required basic medical attention only 1 100% 
Temporary Total Disablement 0 0 
Permanent Disablement 0 0 
Fatal 0 0 
Total 1 100% 

 

 9.14  Utilisation of consultants
Table 9.14.1 – Report on consultant appointments using appropriated funds

Project Title Total number of consultants 
that worked on the project 

Duration: 
Work days 

Contract value in 
Rand 

Remuneration  1 4 27 360  
Strategic Plan 1  80 000 
    

Total number of projects Total individual consultants 
Total 

duration: 
Work days 

Total contract value in 
Rand 

1 1 4 27 360  
1 1  80 000 

 

3

3

Project Title Total number of consultants 
that worked on the project 

Duration: 
Work days 

Contract value in 
Rand 

Remuneration  1 4 27 360  
Strategic Plan 1  80 000 
    

Total number of projects Total individual consultants 
Total 

duration: 
Work days 

Total contract value in 
Rand 

1 1 4 27 360  
1 1  80 000 

 

3

3

Table 9.14.2 – Analysis of consultant appointments using appropriated funds, in terms of Historically Disad-
vantaged Individuals (HDIs)

Project Title 
Percentage 

ownership by HDI 
groups 

Percentage 
management by HDI 

groups 

Number of Consultants 
from HDI groups that 
work on the project 

Remuneration  30 30 0 
Strategic  Plan 100% 100% 2 
    

 

Table 9.14.3 – Report on consultant appointments using Donor 

Project Title Total Number of consultants 
that worked on the project 

Duration: 
Work days 

Donor and Contract 
value in Rand 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 
N/A N/A N/A N/A 
N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Total number of projects Total individual consultants  
Total 
duration:  
Work days  

Total contract value in 
Rand  

    
    

 Table 9.14.4 – Analysis of consultant appointments using Donor funds, in terms of Historically Disadvantaged 
Individuals (HDIs)

Project Title
 Percentage 

ownership by HDI 
groups 

Percentage 
management by HDI 
groups 

Number of Consultants 
from HDI groups that 
work on the project 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 
N/A N/A N/A N/A 
N/A N/A N/A N/A 
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2007.

Audit Committee members and attendance
The Audit Committee consists of the members listed hereunder and meets twice per annum as per its approved terms of 
reference. During the current year three meetings were held.

Name of Member No. of meetings attended 

Ms. M. Vuso (Chairperson) 3 

Mr. A. Soma 3 

Mr. J. Mokwena (appointed 1 September 2006) 1 

Ms. T. Mashanda (resigned 31 May 2006) 1 

 
Audit Committee responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 38 (1) (a) of the PFMA and 
Treasury Regulation 3.1.13. The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as 
its audit committee charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibili-
ties as contained therein.

The effectiveness of internal control
The system of controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and that liabilities and 
working capital are efficiently managed.  In line with the PFMA, Internal Audit provides the Audit Committee and man-
agement with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective.  This is achieved by means of the risk 
management process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls and 
processes.  From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements and 
management letter of the Auditor-General, it was noted that no significant or material non-compliance with prescribed poli-
cies and procedures have been reported.  Accordingly, we can report that the system of internal control for the period under 
review was efficient and effective. 

The quality of in year management and monthly / quarterly reports submitted in terms of the Act and the Division of Rev-
enue Act

The Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued by the Ac-
counting Officer and the Office of the Public Protector during the year under review.

Evaluation of financial statements
The Audit Committee has:

• reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report with the Auditor-
General and the Accounting Officer;

• reviewed the Auditor-General’s management report and management’s response thereto; and
• reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial statements, and is of 
the opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the 
Auditor-General.

………………………………………………
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
27 July 2007

10. OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTOR: REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
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11.1  Report Of The Auditor-general To Parliament On The Financial Statements And Performance 
         Information Of Office Of The Public Protector For The Year Ended 31 March 2007

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Office of the Public Protector which comprise the 

statement of financial position as at 31 March 2007, statement of financial performance statement of changes in net 
assets and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 90 to 100.

Responsibility of the accounting officer for the financial statements
2. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any 
interpretations of such statements issued by the Accounting Practice Board, with the effective Standards of Gener-
ally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management 
Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and the Public Protector Act,1994 (Act No. 23 of 1994). This responsibility 
includes: 

• designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies
• making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General
3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the Public 

Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) section 4.(2) of the Public Protector Act,1994 (Act No. 23 of 1994), my respon-
sibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing, General Notice 647 of 2007 is-
sued in Government Gazette No. 29919 of 25 May 2007. Those standards require that I comply with ethical require-
ments and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

 
6. An audit also includes evaluating the:

• appropriateness of accounting policies used
• reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management
• overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Basis of accounting 
8. The Office of the Public Protector policy is to prepare financial statements on historical cost basis, as set out in ac-

counting policy note 1.2.



Audit opinion 
9. In my opinion, the financial statements, in all material respects, fairly present the financial position of Office of 

the Public Protector as at 31 March 2007 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, 
in accordance with the basis of accounting as described in paragraph 8 and in the manner required by the 
PFMA.

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES
Reporting on performance information
10. I have audited the performance information as set out on pages xx to xx.

Responsibilities of the accounting officer 
11. The accounting officer has additional responsibilities as required by section 40(3)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that 

the annual report and audited financial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined objec-
tives of the Office of the Public Protector

Responsibility of the Auditor-General
12. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) 

read with General Notice 646 of 2007, issued in Government Gazette No. 29919 of 25 May 2007. 

13. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain sufficient 
appropriate evidence about the performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment.

14. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the audit findings 
reported below. 

Audit findings
15. No material findings were identified.
 
APPRECIATION
16. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Office of the Public Protector during the audit is sincerely 
 appreciated.

.................................................
FJ Joubert for Auditor-General
PRETORIA

31 July 2007
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11.2  Report By The Accounting Officer To The Executive Authority And Parliament Of The Republic Of South Africa.

11.2.1  LEGISLATIVE MANDATE 
The Office of the Public Protector is an institution established in terms of Chapter Nine of the Republic of South Africa 
Constitution Act (Act No. 108 of 1996). Its additional mandate is further provided for in the Public Protector Act (Act No. 
23 of 1994) as amended. The primary objective of Chapter Nine institutions, including the Office of the Public Protector, 
is to strengthen constitutional democracy. The Office fulfils its mandate by investigating, either at its own initiative or on 
receipt of complaints from aggrieved persons, allegations of improper conduct by organs of the State. The Office has 
the power to report and recommend remedial action.
The core business of the Office is:
• To investigate any conduct in State Affairs or in the public administration in any sphere of government that is al-

leged or suspected to be improper or to result in impropriety or prejudice.
• To mediate, negotiate, conciliate, report and recommend remedial actions.

11.2.2 GENERAL REVIEW OF THE STATE OF FINANCIAL AFFAIRS
As a result of the Medium-Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) requiring a three year planning horizon, the five-year 
strategic plan adopted in the 2005/06 financial year was reviewed and a new three-year strategic plan, covering this as 
well as the next two financial years, was developed and adopted, in line with guidelines provided by National Treasury.

The fundamental shift emanating from the adoption of the three-year strategic plan is the restructuring of and the crea-
tion of new programmes in line with the operations of the Office. The Office now operates with four programmes, which 
are as follows:

Programme Sub-programme 

Programme 1: Investigations and Reporting Programme 1.1: National Investigations 

Programme 1.2: Provincial Investigations 

Programme 1.3: Special Investigations 

Programme 2: Communication Services Programme 2.1: Outreach Programme 

Programme 2.2: Marketing and Communications 

Programme 3: Corporate Support Services Programme 3.1: Human Capital 

Programme 3.2: Finance and Supply Chain 

Management 

Programme 3.3: Administrative Support 

Programme 3.4: Security Management 

Programme 4: Knowledge Management and 

Information Technology 

Programme 4.1: Knowledge Management 

Programme 4.2: Information Technology 

 

Whilst it is pleasing to report that the Office was successful in achieving its constitutional mandate and has made 
significant progress in reaching the poorest of the poor through the outreach programme, staff turnover and difficulties 
in filling critical posts, most notably in the field of Information Technology, has resulted in delays in the achievement of 
some of the strategic objectives set for the period under review (for details, refer to the “Performance against Strategic 
Objectives” section of the Annual Report).

Due to the critical nature of these strategic objectives, as well as the funding limitations anticipated for the Office in the 
coming financial years, an amount of R6 500 000 received during the period under review has been deferred to fund 
these strategic objectives in the next financial year (refer to note 2 and note 16 of the Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements). 



11.2.3 CAPACITY CONSTRAINTS

During the period under review, staff turnover and difficulties in filling critical posts has impacted on the ability of the 
Office to achieve the strategic objectives set for this period. These  essential posts included the post of the Chief 
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the Senior Manager: Information Technology, the Senior Manager: Hu-
man Resources, the Senior Manager: Provincial Co-ordination, the Senior Manager: Communications and the Senior 
Manager: Administration. Although the Office has, as at the date of this report, filled most of these critical posts, the 
difficulties experienced in filling these posts and the general high staff turnover suggest that a review of the compensa-
tion structure is needed in order to attract and retain suitably skilled employees.

11.2.4 UTILISATION OF DONOR FUNDS

As disclosed in note 2 of the Notes to the Annual Financial Statements, the Office concluded an agreement with the 
European Union, whereby the salaries of six OPP employees will be funded for two years, starting from 1 January 
2007, by the European Union through the Civil Advocacy Support Programme (CSAP). This has allowed the Office 
to expand the Outreach Programme, with the results of this expansion expected to bear fruit in the coming financial 
years.  

11.2.5  PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS (PPP)

During the financial year under review, the Office of the Public Protector has, along with other National Departments, 
begun participating in a transversal Public Private Partnership with Phavisworld. This PPP is for a term of five years 
and is managed by National Treasury and the Department of Transport. The following services are provided for in this 
PPP:

• Long Term Fleet Rental ( 5 years)
• Short Term Fleet Rental (day to day)
• Short Medium Term Fleet Rental (more than a month but less than a year)
• 24/7 Call Centre
• Internet Based System with an Electronic Log Book
• Chauffer and Point to Point Driven Services
• Fuel Management System
• Vehicle Tracking Device for Long Term and Short Medium Term Rental
• Classroom-Based Driver Training 
• Fleet Consultancy Services

11.2.6  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The Office of the Public Protector was able to fill the vacant Chief Executive Officer post, and I assumed duties on 1 
April 2007. As mandated by the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), the Chief Executive Officer is 
required to perform the duties and responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, which I assumed on that date. 

11.2.7  BUSINESS ADDRESS

Physical Address Postal Address 

175 Lunnon Street Private Bag X677 

Hillcrest Office Park PRETORIA 

HILLCREST 0001 

0083  
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11.2.8.  STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

The Office of the Public Protector is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual finan-
cial statements. The annual financial statements presented on pages 8 to 25 have been prepared in accordance with 
the South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP) including any interpretations of such 
Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement.
The Office considers that, in preparing the financial statements, the most appropriate accounting policies have been 
used, consistently applied and are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The going-concern basis has been adopted in preparing the annual financial statements. There is no reason to believe 
that the Office of the Public Protector will not be able to continue its operations in the foreseeable future, based on fore-
casts and available cash resources. These annual financial statements support the viability of the Office of the Public 
Protector.

The Office of the Public Protector has always assumed full accountability for maintaining compliance with all applicable 
legislation, its established policies, systems and processes and for reporting its results with objectivity and the highest 
degree of integrity. It is critical for users of the Office’s annual financial statements to have confidence that the financial 
information provided is timely, complete, relevant, and accurate. 

The Office of the Public Protector has established and maintains a strong ethical climate so that its affairs are con-
ducted to the highest standards of personal and corporate conduct. The Office also has established an effective system 
of internal control that provides reasonable assurance as to the integrity and accuracy of these financial statements. 
The internal audit function maintains critical oversight over the key areas of its business and financial processes and 
controls, and reports directly to the Audit Committee.

The Office of the Public Protector’s external auditors, the Auditor-General, is responsible for reporting on the fair pres-
entation of these financial statements. 

The Office of the Public Protector is committed to and fully understands and embraces all its fiduciary and legislative 
responsibilities. The Office is dedicated to ensuring that the high standards of financial accounting and reporting as well 
as the underlying system of internal controls are maintained. The Office’s culture demands integrity and the Office has 
the highest confidence in its processes, its internal controls, and its people, who are objective in their responsibilities 
and who operate under the highest level of ethical standards.

11.2.9   APPROVAL

The annual financial statements set out on pages 90 to 100 have been approved by the Accounting Officer.

.....................................
Dr R Russon
Chief Executive Officer
31 May 2007
  



   11.3 Statement of Financial Performance   for the year ended 31 March 2007

2007  2006   

 Actual Actual
 Notes R’000 R’000 

REVENUE    
Grants and transfers 2 61,598  58,627  
Other income 3 1  3  
Income from investments 4 1,342  628  
TOTAL REVENUE  62,941  59,258  
    
EXPENDITURE    
Administrative expenses 5 10,036  9,733  
Staff costs 6 42,863  39,790  
Financial transactions in assets and liabilities 7  -  508  
Other operating expenses 8 6,841  7,100  
Depreciation 9 2,626  1,068  
Finance Costs 10 51  32  
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  62,417  58,231  
      

Surplus/(Deficits) for the year 20 524  
 

   11.4 Statement of Financial Position   for the year ended 31 March 2007

2007  2006   

 Actual Actual 
 Notes R’000 R’000 
ASSETS    
    
Non-current assets   8,657  6,980  
Property, plant and equipment 11 8,657  6,980  
    
Current assets  21,389  11,119  
Accounts and other receivables 12 269  498  
Cash and cash equivalents 13 21,120  10,621  
      
Total assets  30,046  18,099  

    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Capital and reserves  10,328  9,804  
Accumulated Surplus  10,328  9,804  
    
Non-current liabilities  1,272  59  
Non-current finance lease liability 17 1,272  59  
    
Current liabilities  18,446  8,235  
Accounts and other payables 14 5,550  3,010  
Provisions 15 6,240  5,150  
Deferred Income 16 6,500  0  
Current finance lease liability 17 156  75  
      
Total equity and liabilities  30,046  18,098  
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11.5 Statement of Changes In Net Assets   for the year ended 31 March 2007

   

  
Accumulated 

surplus 

 Notes   
Accumulated surplus    
    
Balance as at 1 April 2005   8,777  
Net surplus for the period 31 March 2006   1,028  
Balance as at 31 March 2006   9,804  
Net surplus for the period 31 March 2007   524  

Balance at 31 March 2007   10,328  
 

11.6 Cash Flow Statement  for the year ended 31 March 2007

2007  2006   

 Actual Actual 
 Notes R’000 R’000 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITES    
Cash received from grants and other income  61,598  58,630  
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (49,380) (54,521) 
Cash flows from operating activities  12,218  4,109  
Interest paid  (51) (32) 
Other payments  - - 

Net cash generated from operating activities  12,167  4,077  
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITES    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (2,898) (1,736) 
Interest received  1,342  628  

Net cash generated from investing activities  (1,556) (1,109) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Cash generated from borrowings  0  114  
Repayment of borrowings  (112) 0  

Net cash generated from financing activities  (112) 114  
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  10,499  3,082  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 13 10,621  7,539  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year   21,120  10,621  

 

11.7 Notes On The Financial Statement  for the year ended 31 March 2007

 1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practices (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices 
Board, with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement as follows:

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2007 (Cont.)



Standard of GRAP    Replaced Statement of GAAP
GRAP 1:  Presentation of financial statements AC101:  Presentation of financial statements
GRAP 2:  Cash flow statements   AC118:  Cash flow statements
GRAP 3:  Accounting policies, changes in   AC103:  Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates 
and errors     accounting estimates and errors

Currently the recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or re-
sult in material differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation of GRAP 
1, 2 & 3 has resulted in the following changes in the presentation of the financial statements:

• Terminology differences:

Standard of GRAP    Replaced Statement of GAAP
Statement of financial performance   Income statement
Statement of financial position   Balance sheet
Statement of changes in net assets   Statement of changes in equity
Net assets     Equity
Surplus/deficit     Profit/loss
Accumulated surplus/deficit   Retained earnings
Contributions from owners   Share capital
Distributions to owners    Dividends

• The cash flow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.

• Specific information has been presented separately on the statement of financial position such as:
a. Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers;
b. Taxes and transfers payable;
c. Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions;

• Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required.

Paragraph 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented due to the fact that the budget reporting standard has not 
been developed by the local standard setter and the international standard is not effective for this financial year.  Al-
though the inclusion of budget information would enhance the usefulness of the financial statements, non-disclosure 
will not affect the objective of the financial statements.

1.2  BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The following are the principle accounting 
policies which are, in all material respects, consistent with those applied in the previous year, except as otherwise 
indicated:

1.3  CURRENCY

These financial statements are presented in South African Rands since that is the currency in which the majority of 
the Office of the Public Protectors’ transactions are denominated.

1.4  REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised when it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and these benefits can be measured reliably. 
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Grants and transfers

Grants and transfers constitute a transfer payment from the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development 
(DOJCD).  

Grants and transfers are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Office of the Public Protector will 
comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. 

Grants and transfers are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they 
are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Other grants and transfers that are receivable as compensation for 
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Office with no future 
related costs are recognised in the period in which they become receivable.

Income from investments

Income from investments constitutes interest accrued on favourable balance with commercial banking institutions. Inter-
est revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate ap-
plicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

1.5  IRREGULAR AND FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure, other than authorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of, or not in ac-
cordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including the Public Finance Management Act

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had rea-
sonable care been exercised. 

All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which they are incurred.

1.6  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Retirement benefit costs

The Office of the Public Protector offers its employees the option of choosing both a defined contribution plan and a de-
fined benefit plan. The defined benefit plan offered to employees is the Government Employees Pension Fund (GEPF). 
In terms of the rules of the GEPF, the National Revenue Fund is responsible for any potential liability that might arise 
as a result of this plan. This implies that once contributions are paid, the Office of the Public Protector has no further 
payment obligations. Therefore, the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost, the past service cost (if 
applicable), and any actuarial gains or losses are not recognised in the annual financial statements of the Office of the 
Public Protector, but is disclosed in the financial statements of the National Revenue Fund.

Payments to both defined contribution and defined benefit plans are charged to the income statement in the year to 
which they relate. 

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related 
service.  Provision has been made for benefits where the employer has a present obligation to pay the benefit as a 
result of the employees’ services rendered to balance sheet date. The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted 
amounts based on current salary rates.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2007  (Cont.)



Gratuity

In terms of the Public Protector’s conditions of service, the Public Protector is entitled to a taxable lump sum gratuity 
on vacation of his office. The gratuity calculation is based on his basic salary, and his period in office. The provision 
raised in the annual financial statements is therefore the actual amount that would be payable had the Public Protector 
vacated his office on last day of the respective financial year.

1.7  EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS

All items of income and expense arising in the ordinary course of business are taken into account in arriving at the 
surplus.  Where items of income and expense are of such size, nature or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to 
explain the performance of the Office, they are separately disclosed and appropriate explanations are provided.

1.8  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment comprises of computer equipment, furniture and fittings, office equipment and motor 
vehicles.  These assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year 
end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The assets are depreciated on the straight-line method over the following periods, considered to be their estimated 
useful lives:
                       
Computer equipment          3 – 6 years
Furniture & fittings   5 – 16 years
Office equipment    5 – 10 years
Motor Vehicle    5 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets 
or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 

Any proceeds arising from the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as a 
current liability, due to the requirements of Section 13 of the Public Finance Management Act which requires any such 
receipt received by the Office to be deposited into the National Revenue Fund. The loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is therefore determined as the carrying amount of the asset and 
is recognised in the determination of the surplus or deficit.

1.9  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of computer software. Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

1.10  IMPAIRMENT 

At each balance sheet date, the office reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not pos-
sible to estimate the recoverable amount for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (cash–generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the car-
rying amount of the asset (cash generating) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are immediately 
recognised as an expense, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under the standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carry-
ing amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash generating 
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase under that other standard.

1.11  LEASES

Finance leases as per the Treasury Regulations refer to a contract that transfers the risks, rewards, rights and obliga-
tions incident to ownership to the lessee and is recorded as a purchase of equipment by means of long-term borrowing; 
all other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the entity/group at their fair value at the date of acquisi-
tion. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Finance 
costs, which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the fair value of the assets acquired, 
are charged to the income statement over the term of the relevant lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease.

1.12  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when the office becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial liabilities are recognised using trade date accounting.

Measurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition 
these instruments are measured as set out below.

Financial assets

The office’s principle financial assets are accounts receivable and cash equivalents.

• Accounts receivables

Accounts receivables are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecover-
able amounts.

Financial liabilities

The office’s principle financial liabilities are accounts payable.
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All fi nancial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, comprising original debt less  principal payments and amortisa-
tions, except for fi nancial liabilities held for trading and derivative liabilities, which are subsequently measured at fair 
value.
• Accounts payable

Accounts and other payables are stated at their nominal value.

1.13  PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the offi ce has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
this will result in an outfl ow of economic benefi ts that can be estimated reliably.

1.14  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash held with banks, all of which is available to the offi ce.

1.15  COMPARATIVES

Where necessary, comparative fi gures have been adjusted to conform to changes in   presentation in the current year. 
The comparative fi gures shown in these fi nancial statements are limited to the fi gures shown in the previous year’s 
audited fi nancial statements and such other comparative fi gures that the offi ce may reasonably have available for 
reporting. 

2. 2007 2006 
 

GRANTS AND TRANSFERS 

 R’000 R’000 
 National Departments 2.1 61,284  58,627  
 Foreign Institutions 2.2 314  0  

 Total  61,598  58,627  

     
2.1  2007 2006 
 

National Departments 

 R’000 R’000 
 Transfer from Department of Justice  67,784  0  
 Deferred Income  (6,500) 0  

 Total  61,284  0  

     
2.2  2007 2006 
 

Foreign Institutions 

 R’000 R’000 
 European Union (Civil Society Advocacy Programme)  314  0  

 Total  314  0  

     

 

During the financial year under review, the Office concluded an agreement with the European Union whereby 
the salaries for six OPP employees is funded by the European Union through the Civil Society Advocacy 
Programme. Also refer to Note 6. 

     

 

In addition to the above, the OPP has also benefited from other projects funded and administered by the 
European Union through the Civil Society Advocacy Programme. The Civil Society Advocacy Programme was 
responsible for the procurement and expenditure related to these projects. These costs will therefore be 
disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements of the Civil Society Advocacy Programme.   

     
     
3. 2007 2006 
 

OTHER INCOME 

 R’000 R’000 
  Fees – Access to Information  1  3  

 Total  1  3  
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4. 2007 2006 
 

INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS 

 R’000 R’000 
 Interest income   1,342  628  

 Total  1,342  628  

     
     
5. 2007 2006 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 R’000 R’000 
 General and administrative expenses  9,742  9,759  
 Auditor’s Remuneration  294  (25) 

 Total  10,036  9,733  

     
     
6. 2007 2006 
 

STAFF COSTS 

 R’000 R’000 
 Basic salaries  29,809  27,025  
 Performance awards  1,668  1,827  
 Service Bonus  1,950  1,909  
 Defined Pension contribution plan expense  2,105  2,019  
 Other  7,331  7,011  

 Total  42,863  39,790  

     

 
Included in the amounts above is the salary cost of R 313 746 that relates to the salaries for six employees 
funded by the European Union through the Civil Society Advocacy Programme. Also refer to Note 2. 

     
     7.

 2007 2006 
 

FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS IN ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES  

 R’000 R’000 
 Impairment of assets  0  508  

 Total  0  508  

     

 
During the year ended 31 March 2006, computer software with a carrying amount of R 508 000 was considered 
impaired, and was written off. 

 
8. 2007 2006 
 

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 R’000 R’000 
 Staff training and development  449  495  
 Consultants, contractors and special services  2,251  3,275  
 Maintenance, repairs and running costs  567  75  
 Entertainment expense   198  112  
 Other  3,376  3,142  

 Total  6,841  7,100  

     
     

 
9. 2007 2006 
 

DEPRECIATION 

 R’000 R’000 
 Office equipment  650  157  
 Motor vehicles  95  41  
 Computer equipment  1,365  621  
 Computer software  0  88  
 Furniture and fittings  517  161  

 Total  2,626  1,068  

     
10. 2007 2006 
 

FINANCE COSTS 

 R’000 R’000 
 Obligations under finance leases   51  32  

 Total  51  32  
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9. 2007 2006 
 

DEPRECIATION 

 R’000 R’000 
 Office equipment  650  157  
 Motor vehicles  95  41  
 Computer equipment  1,365  621  
 Computer software  0  88  
 Furniture and fittings  517  161  

 Total  2,626  1,068  

     
10. 2007 2006 
 

FINANCE COSTS 

 R’000 R’000 
 Obligations under finance leases   51  32  

 Total  51  32  

     
 11.       
       

 
OWNED – 2007 Computer 

Equipment 
Furniture& 

Fittings 
Office 

Equipment 
Motor 

Vehicle Total 

  R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 

 Cost      
 Balance at 1 April 2006 3,876  3,463  1,866  206  9,411  
 Additions 2,205  556  137  1,406  4,304  
 Balance at 31 March 2007 6,081  4,018  2,003  1,612  13,714  
 Depreciation      

 Balance at 1 April 2006 1,568  385  399  79  2,431  
 Current year charge 1,365  517  650  95  2,626  
 Balance at 31 March 2007 2,933  901  1,049  174  5,057  

 Book value at 31 March 2007 3,149  3,117  954  1,438  8,657  

       

 
OWNED – 2006 Computer 

Equipment 
Furniture& 

Fittings 
Office 

Equipment 
Motor 

Vehicle Total 

  R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 R'000 

 Cost      
 Balance at 1 April 2005 3,731  2,165  1,572  206  7,674  
 Additions 145  1,297  294  0  1,736  
 Balance at 31 March 2006 3,876  3,463  1,866  206  9,411  
 Depreciation      

 Balance at 1 April 2005 947  224  243  38  1,452  
 Current year charge 621  161  157  41  979  
 Balance at 31 March 2006 1,568  385  399  79  2,431  

 Book value at 31 March 2006 2,308  3,078  1,467  127  6,980  
 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. 2007 2006 
 

ACCOUNTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 R’000 R’000 
 Accounts receivables  269  53  
 Other receivables  0  445  

 Total  269  498  
     
     
13. 2007 2006 
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 R’000 R’000 
 Cash at bank  21,070  10,607  
 Cash on hand  50  14  

 Total  21,120  10,621  

     
 For the purpose of the cash flow statement:     
 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   10,621  7,539  
     
     
14. 2007 2006 
 

ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 R’000 R’000 
 Accounts payables  3,328  690  
 Accruals  2,222  2,320  

 Total  5,550  3,010  
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15. 2007 2006 
 

PROVISIONS 

 R’000 R’000 
 Audit fees    
 Opening balance  0  252  
 Increase/(decrease) in provision for audit fees  0  (252) 

 Closing balance  0  0  
     
 Salary and related expenses    
 Opening balance  2,954  2,406  

 

Increase/(decrease) in provision for salary and related expenses 

         309  548  

 Closing balance  3,263  2,954  
     
 Levies provision    
 Opening balance  148  136  
 Increase/(decrease) in provisions for levies  15  12  

 Closing balance  163  148  
     
 Public Protector Gratuity    
 Opening balance  2,048  1,635  
 Increase in provision for Public Protector Gratuity  766  413  

 Closing balance  2,814  2,048  
     
 Total provisions    
 Opening balance  5,150  4,429  
 Increase/(decrease) in total provisions  1,090  721  

 Closing balance  6,240  5,150  

     
     
16. 2007 2006 
 

DEFERRED INCOME 

 R’000 R’000 
     
 Deferred Income - Transfer from Department of Justice  6,500  0  

 Closing balance  6,500  0  

     

 

Deferred Income - Transfer from Department of Justice refers to the portion of the Grants and Transfers 
received which has not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance, as the expenditure that it is 
intended to compensate has not yet been incurred. 

     
     

 
      

  

      
 

 

 

17.      
 Reconciliation between the total of the minimum lease payments and the present value:  

 Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years 
More than 

5 years Total 
 

 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
 Year ended 31/3/2006     

 Future minimum lease payments 83  63  0  147  
 Finance cost 8  4  0  12  
 Present value 75  59  0  135  

      
 Year ended 31/3/2007     

 Future minimum lease payments 294  1,611  0  1,905  
 Finance cost 138  340  0  478  
 Present value 156  1,271  0  1,427  

 
17. FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 2007 2006 
 Analysed for financial reporting purposes:  R’000 R’000 

 
Non-current finance lease liability (recoverable after 12 months) 

 1,271  59  

 

Current finance lease liability (recoverable within 12 months) 

 156  75  

 Net finance lease liability  1,427  135  
 

FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
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 Reconciliation between the total of the minimum lease payments and the present value:  

 Up to 1 year 1 to 5 years 
More than 

5 years Total 
 

 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 
 Year ended 31/3/2006     

 Future minimum lease payments 83  63  0  147  
 Finance cost 8  4  0  12  
 Present value 75  59  0  135  

      
 Year ended 31/3/2007     

 Future minimum lease payments 294  1,611  0  1,905  
 Finance cost 138  340  0  478  
 Present value 156  1,271  0  1,427  

 
17. FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 2007 2006 
 Analysed for financial reporting purposes:  R’000 R’000 

 
Non-current finance lease liability (recoverable after 12 months) 

 1,271  59  

 

Current finance lease liability (recoverable within 12 months) 

 156  75  

 Net finance lease liability  1,427  135  
 

FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Finance Leases: Photocopiers   
   
It is the Offi ce’s policy to lease photocopiers under fi nance leases. Included in current fi nance lease liabilities is 
an amount of R 45 831 that relates to the lease liability for these photocopiers (R 0 in non-current fi nance lease 
liabilities). The average lease term is three years.  For the year ended 31 March 2007 the average effective bor-
rowing rate was 12%. Interest rates are fi xed at the contract date.  
   
Finance Leases: Motor Vehicles (acquired under a Transversal Public Private Partnership contract)
   
During the year ended 31 March 2007, the offi ce leased certain motor vehicles under fi nance leases in terms of 
a transversal public private partnership contract managed by National Treasury and the Department of Trans-
port. The average lease period is fi ve years. For the year ended 31 March 2007, the average effective borrowing 
rate was 10%. Interest rates are fi xed at the contract date.  
   
The entity/group’s obligations under fi nance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. 
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2007 2006 18.  KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

 R’000 R’000 
Public Protector & Deputy Public Protector  1,506  965  
Chief Director  1,760  1,168  
Directors  7,623  8,199  
Total  10,889  10,332  

    
The 21 directors include the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Investigators and Provincial Representatives. 

    
    

 2007  2006   

 R’000 R’000 
    

Decrease/(increase) in Accounts and other receivables  229  231  
Increase in Accounts and other payables  2,540  1,150  
Increase in deferred income  6,500  0  
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  1,090  721  
Net change in working capital  10,359  2,102  

    
    

 2007    

 R’000  
    

Surplus/(Deficits) for the year  524   
Add back: Depreciation  2,626   
Savings from operations  3,150   
Less: PPE Additions  (4,304)  
Net Surplus before removing effects of finance lease  (1,154)  
Add back: PPE additions - Phavis World Finance Lease  1,406   
Net Surplus  252   

 

19.  CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

20.  SURPLUS RECONCILIATION
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The strategic framework of the office is divided into two i.e. organisational and operational. 

12.1 Organisational 
The organisation must remain lean, highly professional, and able to expand and contract as required as per the concertina 
model. 

12.1.1 LEAN

To achieve the leanness of the organisation, attempts must be made to partner with other institutions for example multi-pur-
pose community centres. 

12.1.2 PROFESSIONAL

Attract and retain a highly trained and effective team of investigators and administrative support staff that are able to deliver 
results within set objectives, budgets and time frames. This will require a review of salaries and job descriptions. This can 
be scheduled as a two-year project. Staff retention must be looked at carefully to reduce the staff turnover levels.

12.1.3 CONCERTINA MODEL

Depending on the number of complaints/cases received the office must be able to contract staff for specific periods and 
release them as and when the need arises. A database of skilled and qualified contractors can be kept to facilitate this 
process. The Public Protector actually envisages such a process by permitting the office to cooperate with other individuals 
or institutions to meet such a requirement.

12.2 Operational
The operational framework is divided into three strategic focus areas namely, Thematic approach for own initiative investi-
gations, Project Approach for other investigations and taking the Office of the Public Protector to the People.

12.2.1 THEMATIC APPROACH

This model is based on the selection of specific themes for each given year, for example, local service delivery, corruption, 
social grants etc. In this way thorough investigation can be conducted around a subject and workshops or conferences be 
held to profile the subject and the organisation. Each province would conduct special investigations and research if neces-
sary on the theme and conduct provincial workshops to promote awareness and  sensitise stakeholders of the relevant 
issues.  

12.2.2.  PROJECT APPROACH 

This will be directed towards a more professional approach to investigations with a view to saving costs and ensuring 
timely completion of projects within approved budgets. Every jurisdictional investigation will be accompanied by a project 
charter with time frames, budget lines and clearly spelt out strategies. This will help to monitor performance, completion 
and outcomes of each and every case. Any case that is not concluded within one year will require special approval. Con-
sideration will be given to developing a case barometer that can be used to measure the importance of each case so as to 
allocate the correct skills and resources to it.

11.2.3  MOBILE OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC PROTECTOR

The OPP is committed to reaching and touching the lives of as many South Africans as possible. Community clinics and 
workshops continue to be a valuable vehicle to promote access to the services of the Public Protector. In addition to this  

12. THE YEAR AHEAD



a Mobile office of the Public Protector (MOPP) will be established to cover the entire country within a three-year cycle. 
Collaboration with other Chapter 9 institutions will be considered in this programme.

The office has identified four strategic objectives for 2007/08 financial year and the focus under each is as follows:

   12.3 Programme 1: Investigation and Reporting
There is a need to improve on the current SDIs to ensure that they are appropriate for the OPP investigative functions. 
The costing of investigation activities remains a challenge and will be given priority in the 2007/08 financial year.

   12.4 Programme 2: Executive Management
We have realised the need to define Executive Management as a new programme focusing on Strategic Manage-
ment, Marketing and Communications.  We have appointed a Chief Executive Officer who will work closely with the 
Public Protector and Deputy Public Protector to monitor the delivery of this strategy.
Our Marketing and Communications has made slow progress and in the 2007/08 financial year, we will focus on defin-
ing and implementing all the necessary strategies to improve internal and external communication and to inculcate a 
common vision and improved profile for the OPP.

   12.5 Programme 3: Outreach Programme
Outreach Programme will now be a separate Strategic Programme, mainly utilising the CSAP budget to achieve its 
objectives. An Outreach Co-ordinator has been appointed, to take ownership of the implementation of the Outreach 
Strategy defined in 2006/07.

   12.6 Programme 4: Corporate Services
The Corporate Support Services has managed to develop proper policies and procedures. In 2007/08, we will be 
implementing and enhancing some of those policies. Our Information and Communication Technology remains a chal-
lenge, however this revised strategy has identified the need to develop and implement the Master Systems Plan that 
will integrate our entire ICT environment.

The strategic objectives identified under each programme are as follows:

12.6.1  PROGRAMME 1: INVESTIGATIONS AND REPORTING

a) To conduct investigations with adherence to SDIs.
b) To identify and conduct systemic investigations.
c) To conduct own-initiative investigations.
d) To develop investigative techniques, processes and training.
e) To reduce the turnaround time to a maximum of one year to finalise all cases.
f) To ensure effective, relevant reporting in all finalised investigations.
g) To monitor and report on remedial actions recommended to organs of state.
h) Identify areas to be included in the Costing Model
i) To improve the effective and efficient coordination of provincial offices. 

12.6.2  PROGRAMME 2: EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Strategic objectives for the programme:
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Sub Programme: Executive Management

a) To conduct file inspections.
b) To improve on think-tank committee procedures and processes.
c) To define and review organisational strategic performance assessment and reporting.
d) To consolidate and continuously update the policies into an integrated Corporate Manual.
e) To enhance collaboration with stakeholders.
f) To co-ordinate the OPP management meetings
g) Establish and migrate AORC.
h) To develop the exchange programme strategy.
i) To improve efficiency and effectiveness of the investigation process.
j) To develop the Service Delivery Charter.

Sub-Programme: Marketing and Communications

k) Improve communication and routing of information to stakeholders
l) Effective communication to internal staff
m) Improve media relations
n) Brand and market the OPP
o) Inculcate protocol knowledge within the OPP

12.6.3   PROGRAMME 3: OUTREACH

Strategic objectives for the programme are to:

a) Increase accessibility to OPP services
b) Increase public awareness
c) Manage Outreach Activities at National Office
d) Take the OPP to the People

12.6.4  PROGRAMME 4: CORPORATE SERVICES

Strategic objectives for the programme:

Sub programme: Human Resource Management

a) Ensure attraction, maintenance and retention of high quality staff for OPP.
b) Continuous monitoring and evaluation of OPP PPMDS to ensure an improved and sustained PPMDS
c) Training and development of staff according to OPP needs 
d) Ensure the development, implementation and utilisation of an EWP for the OPP.
e) Facilitate and monitor change management, transformation, equity and diversity 
f) Improve the Human Resources Management Information System (HRMIS)
g) To improve, monitor and advise on Labour Relations.

Sub-Programme: Finance and Supply Chain Management

h) To develop a costing model for investigations
i) Improve OPP financial management and reporting
j) Ensure compliance of OPP with financial prescripts
k) Develop and implement cost-effective procurement processes



Sub-Programme: Administration Support

l) To enable the optimum application and utilisation of resources
m) To promote the effective and efficient functioning of the registry
n) To establish and maintain suitable office accommodation

Sub-Programme: Security and Risk Management

o) To establish and implement processes for the protection of OPP information and assets, including staff

p) Develop and implement Risk Management Strategy.

Sub-Programme: Knowledge Management

q) Create Knowledge Management Institution of the OPP

Sub-Programme: Information and Communications Technology

r) Develop Master Systems Plan (MSP).

Public Protector South Africa Annual Report: 1 April 2006 - 31 March 2007

104



Public Protector South Africa Annual Report: 1 April 2006 - 31 March 2007

HEAD OFFICE: PRETORIA

Private Bag X 677, Pretoria 0001
175 Lunnon Street, 
Hillcrest Office Park, Pretoria

Tel: (012) 366 7000
Fax: (012) 362 3473
Tollfree: 0800 11 20 40

PROVINCIAL OFFICES

LIMPOPO
PO Box 4533, Polokwane 0700
Unit 2301, Wyndom Park
23 Rabie Street, Polokwane

Tel: (015) 295 6984
Fax (015) 295 2870

MPUMALANGA
PO Box 3373, Nelspruit 1200
Suite 101, Pinnacle Building
1 Parkin Street, Nelspruit

Tel: (013) 752 8543
Fax: (013) 752 7883

FREE STATE
PO Box 383, Bloemfontein 9300
Public Protector House
82 Kellner Street
Westdene, Bloemfontein

Tel: (051) 442 6172/6185
Fax: (051) 448 6070

GAUTENG
PO Box 32738, Braamfontein 2017 
Women’s Jail, Constitutional Hill
2 Kotze Street, Johannesburg

Tel: (011) 339 3737
Fax: (011) 339 2858



NORTH WEST
PO Box 512, Mafikeng 2745
Public protector’s Chambers
Cnr Martin & Robinson Street
Mafikeng

Tel: (018) 381 1060 /1/2
Fax: (018) 381 2066

WESTERN CAPE
PO Box 712, Cape town 8000
4th  Floor, 51 Wale St/ Bree St, 
Cape town

Tel: (021) 423 8644
Fax: (021) 423 8708

EASTERN CAPE
PO Box 424, BISHO 5605
Unathi House
Independent Avenue, Bisho
(Behind Pick ‘n Pay Building)

Tel: (040) 635 1286 /7 1145/ 1126
Fax: (040) 635 1291

NORTHERN CAPE
PO Box 1505, Kimberly 8300
2nd & 3rd  Floor Pretmax Building
4 Sydney Street, Kimberly

Tel: (053) 831 7766 or (053) 831 5281/2
Fax: (053) 832 3404

KWAZULU-NATAL
PO Box 4267, Durban 4000
Suite 2119, Commercial City
40 Commercial Road, Durban

Tel: (031) 307 5300
Fax: (031) 307 2424

REGIONAL OFFICES

KURUMAN
PO Box 79, Mothibistad 8474
1 Rose Avenue, Kuruman

Tel: (053) 712 1762/2347
Fax: (053) 712 2417
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VRYBERG
PO Box 891, Vryberg 8600
Old Mutual Building,
55 Market Street, Vryberg

Tel: (053) 927 2221
Fax: (053) 927 2509

RUSTENBURG
PO Box 371, Tlhabane 0309
Suite no 12, Old Saambou Building
Cnr Fatima Bayat & Boom Streets
Rustenburg

Tel: (014) 592 9023/6
Fax: (014) 592 9031

GEORGE
1st Floor South Wing
Bataleur Park, Cnr Cathedral and Cradock Streets, George

Tel: (044) 874 2887
Fax: (044) 874 5922

MABOPANE
PO Box 3165, Rosslyn 0200
Room 334, 2nd Floor
Central House, Mabopane

Tel: (012) 702 5458/4330
Fax: (012) 702 8127

SIYABUSWA
PO Box 2391, Siyabuswa 0472
Old Parliament Building
Job Skosana Street, Siyabuswa

Tel: (013) 973 0033/6
Fax: (013) 973 0029



NOTES
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